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Peak District Poor Law Settlement and Removal Papers (SURNAMES A-L) 
 
In 1601, the Act for the Relief of the Poor was passed (commonly known as the ‘Old Poor Law’). Under the Old Poor Law, the 
parish was established as the basic administrative unit responsible for poor relief with parish officials known as ‘Overseers of the 
Poor’ tasked with collecting poor rates from ratepayers in the parish and allocating relief to those in need. 
 
The poor relief system soon brought about the increased movement of destitute people to regions where ratepayers were wealthier 
and poor relief funds therefore greater. The issues this created led to the Settlement Act (passed in 1662). Under this act, anyone 
legally 'settled' in a parish had a right to claim poor relief from it, others did not and could be ‘removed’ to another parish deemed to 
be responsible for them. Qualification for legal ‘settlement’ within a parish was most frequently determined by an individual’s 
parentage or marriage, although claims could also depend on location of jobs and value of property.  
 
The main documents created by the settlement system were settlement certificates, settlement examinations and removal 
orders. The survival of such records is very patchy, but, where they do survive (often in Church ‘parish chest’ records or local 
court/solicitors records held at local authority archives services) they can be of great value to family and social historians, offering a 
fascinating window onto the lives of working classes/paupers, showing the migration of people and sometimes intriguing ‘potted 
biographies’ of individuals. 
 
The following list provides an index to Poor Law settlement and removal papers relating to the Peak District held in local authority 
archives, arranged in alphabetical order by surname and including document type, date, original document reference, etc. The list is 
an ongoing process and will be updated regularly.   
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Name of 
individual(s) 
concerned (in 
alphabetical order 
by surname) 

Document 
type (e.g. 
Settlement 
Certificate/ 
Settlement 
Examination/ 
Removal 
Order/ Case 
Papers, etc.) 

Place where 
from/ being 
removed/ 
examined 

Place where 
going/being 
removed to 

Date Observations /Remarks Original 
Document 
Reference 

Abel, John Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  8 Oct 
1739 

He was born at Aspley in 
the parish of Eglesall 
[Eccleshall?] 
(Staffordshire), and his 
father had a settlement 
there. When he was about 
19 years of age he was 
hired for a year to one 
William Lobert of Woford in 
the parish of Stone 
(Staffordshire) at 1 pound 
wages. He served that 
year and received his 
wages. He hired a second 
year at 1 pound 6 shillings, 
to the said Lobert. He 
served that year and 
received his wages. That 
he was bound apprentice 
by Indenture for 7 years to 
Thomas Abel of 
Wednesbury 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/453 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 
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(Staffordshire) to be taught 
the trade of a blacksmith. 
He served this said time. 
He saith his master 
Thomas Abel came into 
Wednesbury by a 
certificate from the 
Overseers of the Poor of 
Summerton (Staffordshire). 
He has not done any act to 
gain a settlement since he 
left Wednesbury. He is 
now in Winster and rents a 
house of 1 pounds 15 
shillings a year.  

Abel, John and his 
wife Ellin and their 
children John, 
Thomas, William 
and Hannah 

Removal 
Order 

Winster Woford, 
Sterne(?) 
(Staffordshire) 

16 Jul 
1740 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/523 
and 529 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Abell, Anthony 
and his wife 
Rebecca and their 
children John and 
Daniel 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Ashbourne Winster 31 Dec 
1746 

Schoolmaster. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/383 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Abell, Anthony 
and his wife Mary 
and his 3 children 
Esther, Anthony 
and Ann 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Bonsall Winster 26 Mar 
1747 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/388 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Adams, Martha Removal Nottingham (St Winster 29 Dec Martha Adams, spinster, Derbyshire 
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Order (and 
Settlement 
Examination) 

Mary’s Parish) 1778 daughter of George Adams 
and Elizabeth his wife. 
Hath for some time since 
resided and doth now still 
reside and dwell in the said 
parish of Saint Mary 
having been permitted so 
to do by virtue of and 
under a certain certificate 
given by the 
Chapelwardens and 
Overseers of the Poor of 
the said township of 
Winster leaving date the 
22nd day of January which 
was in the year of our Lord 
1756 duly allowed by Two 
Justices of the Peace for 
the County of Derby and 
that the said Martha 
Adams is now become 
actually chargeable to the 
said parish of Saint Mary 
although the place of her 
last legal settlement is in 
the township of Winster, 
she having never gained 
any legal settlement 
elsewhere since the date 
of the said certificate. 

Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/552 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Adams, Martha 
the wife of James 

Removal 
Order 

Manchester Bakewell 20 Mar 
1799 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
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Adams now 
absent from her, 
and their children 
Charles (7), 
Thomas (3) and 
Ann (1) 

D2057/A/PO/12
/20 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 

Alcock, John and 
Martha his wife 

Settlement 
Examination 
and Removal 
Order 

Monyash Taddington 7 Dec 
1747 

Born at Monyash (where 
father had legal 
settlement). At age of 15, 
bound apprentice to 
William Schofield of 
Taddington, blacksmith, for 
7 years. Stayed 3 years 
then left. About 3 years 
ago was bound apprentice 
to Cornelius Blackden who 
now resides at Monyash 
(by certificate from Buxton) 
to trade of blacksmith for 3 
years. Served 1 year. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D504/49/13-14 

Alderson, James Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  19 Sep 
1828 

About 31 years of age and 
born in the parish of 
Habergham Eaves 
(Lancashire) as he hath 
heard and believes. That 
he was bound apprentice 
when he as about 14 years 
of age by his father to 
William Gibson of 
Habergham Eaves, joiner, 
for 7 years. Duly served his 
apprenticeship with his 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776 
/A/PO/511 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 
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said master. That his 
indentures of 
apprenticeship were 
lodged in the office of 
William Shaw of Barnsley 
in Lancashire, the attorney 
who prepared the same. 
That Mr William Shaw is 
since dead, and this 
examinant does not now 
know where the indentures 
are, and that this 
examinant hath done no 
other act that he knows of 
to gain himself a 
subsequent settlement. 
That this examinant was 
lawfully married in St 
Peter’s Church, 
Nottingham to Elizabeth 
Wigley about 4 years ago 
by whom he hath one child 
named Paul who is now 
nearly 3 years of age.  

Algate, William 
and his wife and 
family 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Ancaster 
(Lincolnshire) 

Bakewell 4 Oct 
1750 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/6
6 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Allen, James and 
his wife Mary and 
their three children 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Alstonefield 
(Staffordshire) 

Bakewell 17 Dec 
1793 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057A/PO9/1
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William (15), 
Thomas (12) and 
Joseph (4) 

00 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Allen, Jasper Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  28 Aug 
1802 

He is about 42 years of 
age. He was born at 
Matlock, where his father 
had at that time a legal 
settlement. That when he 
was about 17 years of age 
his father bound him 
apprentice to Nathaniel 
Warren of Walton, 
cordwainer, until he was 
21 years of age. That he 
served about 2 years of 
the said term when his 
father made an agreement 
with his master for the 
remainder of his time. He 
then worked as 
journeyman at divers 
places, until he was about 
20 years of age when he 
married. That he hath 
since worked as a 
journeyman to this time.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
48 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 

Allen, John with 
his wife Hester 
and the children 
begotten or to be 
begotten upon the 
body of the said 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Pilsley, Edensor Bakewell 13 Apr 
1705 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/6 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 
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Hester 

Allen, John Settlement 
Certificate List 

Beeley(?) Eyam 1747  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Allen, Mary and 
her daughter Ellen 
(1) 

Removal 
Order 

Winster Nottingham (St 
Mary’s Parish) 

9 Feb 
1790 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/559
-560 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Allen, William and 
his wife Betty and 
their children 
Charles (4½), 
William (3) and 
Margaret (10 
months) 

Removal 
Order 

Manchester Baslow 2 Sep 
1819 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/5/
19 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 7) 

Allin, Elizabeth (or 
Allen?) and the 
child or children 
wherewith she is 
now pregnant 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Wirksworth Winster 8 Dec 
1812 

Pregnant. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/443 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Allgate, John Settlement 
Examination 

Bakewell  19 Aug 
1807 

Born in Bakewell. His 
father resided under a 
certificate from Ancastor 
(Lincolnshire). That he was 
bound apprentice when he 
was 14 years old, to Isaac 
Frost of Bakewell, 
cordwainer for the term of 
7 years. That he served 
during the period of 7 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/11
/18 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 
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years and lived in Bakewell 
ever since, but has done 
no act to the best of his 
knowledge and belief, 
which could separate him 
from his father’s 
settlement. 

Allsebrook, James Settlement 
Papers(?) 

Winster  29 Jan 
1771 

James Allsebrook rents a 
tack under the Right 
Honourable Earl of 
Mexborough and he keeps 
2 or 3 cows and follows the 
trade of framework knitter. 
He keeps a shop of frames 
going as we the offices of 
the said parish do certify 
with others of our parish. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/479 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 

Anderson, 
Stephen 

Settlement 
Examination 

Ashford  10 Feb 
1766 

Labourer. Born at 
Blackwell where his father 
had legal settlement and 
with whom he lived until 
age 10 when he was 
bound apprentice by 
indenture to John Jobson 
of Kirkby-in-Ashfield 
(Nottinghamshire), 
framework knitter, for 7 
years which he served. His 
master resided at Kirkby-
in-Ashfield by virtue of 
certificate from Pinkstone, 
Derbyshire. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO2/2 
(alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/36) 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 
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Andrew, Jeremiah 
and Ellen his wife 
and children 
Jeremiah, Ann, 
Ellen, Jane, 
Elizabeth, Sarah, 
John and Mary 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Woodland Hope 24 Dec 
1697 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1038A/PO/84 

Andrew, John and 
his wife and family 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Youlgreave Ashford 25 Nov 
1709 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO1/14 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Andrew, John and 
his wife 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Harthill (in parish 
of Bakewell) 

Bakewell 24 Jun 
1728 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/4
4 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Andrew, John and 
Mary his wife 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Hope Foolow 9 Jun 
1733 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D7676/BagC/5
66/58 

Andrew, Robert Settlement 
Certificate List 

Bradwell Eyam 1719  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Anthony, Joseph 
and his wife Joyce 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Ashbourne Bakewell 2 Jul 
1715 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/3
0 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Appleby, John Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  18 May 
1758 

He was born at Wirksworth 
and that his father was 
settled at Bradley and 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/472 
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about the year 1734 his 
father came to Winster by 
certificate from Bradley 
where he now resides and 
where this examinant 
apprehends and believes 
his father’s settlement is 
about where this 
examinant believes his 
own settlement also is. For 
that he has done nothing 
as he knows of to gain a 
settlement elsewhere 
unless being pressed or 
offered to be pressed for a 
soldier in Winster has 
gained there. He is married 
to Sarah his wife but hath 
no child.  

(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 

Appleby, Joseph 
and his wife Grace 
and their children 
Mary, Joseph and 
John 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Bradley Winster 17 Apr 
1735 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/368 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Appleby, William 
and his wife 
Elizabeth and their 
daughter Ann 

Removal 
Order 

Tissington Winster 13 Feb 
1787 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/558 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Archbold, James Settlement 
Examination  

Ashford  1 Jun 
1787 

Joiner of Ashford. Born at 
Preston (Northumberland). 
Age 16 was bound 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO2/16 
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apprentice to Thomas 
Grierson of Ellingham 
(Northumberland), joiner, 
for term of 5 years. Served 
the term, since which time 
he has worked at various 
places. Above 2 years ago 
came into this county and 
near 12 months since 
married at Bakewell. Now 
lives with his wife at 
Ashford. 

(alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/49) 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Ashbourn, John Settlement 
Certificate List 

Bowden 
Middlecale 
(Chapel-en-le-
Frith) 

Eyam 1702  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Ashton, Hannah 
and the child or 
children she now 
goeth with  

Settlement 
Certificate 

Matlock Winster 22 Dec 
1801 

Pregnant. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/441 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Ashton, Hannah 
and the child or 
children of which 
she is now 
pregnant 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Matlock Winster 6 Jan 
1805 

Pregnant. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/442 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Ashton, Hannah 
and the child or 
children of which 
she is now 
enceinte 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Litton Bakewell 25 Apr 
1834 

Single-woman and 
pregnant. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057A/PO9/1
13 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 
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Ashton, Jeremiah 
and his wife Ann 
and their sons 
John (6) and 
William (4) 

Removal 
Order 

Duffield Winster 4 Jul 
1808 

Suspension Order: Ann the 
wife of Jeremiah Ashton is 
as present unable to travel 
by reason of sickness and 
infirmity of body,  
4 July 1808. 
 
Ann the wife of Jeremiah 
Ashton is dead, 
1 Aug 1808. 
 
The sum of 3 pounds and 
2 shillings to be paid by the 
Churchwardens and 
Overseers of the Poor of 
Winster to the 
churchwardens and 
Overseers of the Poor of 
Duffield, 1 Aug 1808. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/566 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Ashton, Thomas 
(Junior) and his 
wife Mary and 
their 2 children 
Elizabeth and 
John 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Bonsall Winster 26 Mar 
1747 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/387 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Austin, Bridget Removal 
Order 

Manchester Ashford in the 
Water 

11 Apr 
1851 

Age 52. Widow of late 
William Austin, silk 
stocking weaver to whom 
married under maiden 
name of Walsh at St 
Patrick’s Protestant Church 
at Waterford, Ireland about 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D400/3 
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36 years ago and who died 
at Ashbourne about 25 
years ago, aged 32. 
William Austin at time of 
death belonged to Ashford 
in the Water. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Bacon, Joshua 
and Mary his wife 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Rowland Foolow 15 May 
1746 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D7676/BagC/5
66/54 

Baddeley, William Settlement 
Certificate List 

Stoney 
Middleton 

Eyam 1736 A Bond. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Baddiley, John 
and his wife Mary 
and their 2 
children 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Stoney 
Middleton 

Winster 10 Jul 
1709 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/348 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Bagaley, Elizabeth Removal 
Order 

Brimington Ashford 15 May 
1830 

Pregnant Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO3/15 
(alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/78) 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Bagaly, George Settlement 
Examination 

Dore  31 May 
1800 

Grinder, age 23. Born 
Stoney Middleton, 
Derbyshire. At 15 
apprenticed to Newbold, 
Ridge and Wild of Little 
Sheffield, saw makers. 

Sheffield 
Archives: 
JC1258/5a 
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Lived mainly with mother at 
Dore (settlement certificate 
at Beauchief). For later 
part of apprenticeship slept 
at Loxley, Ecclesfield. 

Baggaley, James Settlement 
Certificate List 

Stoney 
Middleton 

Eyam 1723  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Baggaley, Jane Removal 
Order 

Bakewell Scarcliffe 10 Mar 
1827 

Widow. Suspended order. 
Jane Baggaley is unable to 
travel by reason of 
sickness. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/44-45 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 

Baggaley, Mary Removal 
Order 

Bakewell Scarcliffe 23 May 
1834 

Spinster. Suspension of 
Order. Mary Baggaley 
unable to travel by reason 
of sickness.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/61-62 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 

Baggaley, William 
and his wife Jane, 
and their children 
Frances (14), 
William (12), 
Elizabeth (9), 
Lydia (6), 
Margaret (5) and 
Mary (3) 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Scarcliffe Bakewell 19 Jun 
1785 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/8
5 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Bagshaw, George  Settlement 
Certificate List 

Abney  Eyam 1721  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 
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Bagshaw, Hugh Settlement 
Certificate List 

Middleton by 
Wirksworth 

Eyam 1716  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Bagshaw, James  Settlement 
Certificate List 

Abney Eyam 1747  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Bagshaw, Josias Settlement 
Certificate List 

Foolow Eyam 1726  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Bailey, William 
(the younger) 

Settlement 
Examination 

Ashford  2 Feb 
1802 

Born Great Longstone 
where father had legal 
settlement. When he was 
about a year old his father 
went to a farm in Ashford 
of more than £20/year. 
Aged 10, went to live with 
Mrs Trafford at Eyam. 
There was no agreement 
with Mrs Trafford for any 
certain time nor for wages. 
Served about 2 years then 
went to live with Mr James 
Longsdon of Little 
Longstone. There was no 
agreement with Mr 
Longsdon either for time or 
wages but believes he did 
not serve a year. Then 
went to live with Mr Robert 
Needham at Rowdale in 
the Liberty of Rowland. 
Agreed to to serve Mr 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO2/26 
(alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/59) 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 



17 

  

Needham at 4s/week and 
his maintenance and 
lodging. Served Mr 
Needham a year then 
hired again with Mr 
Needham for a year for 
wages of 12 guineas/year 
but only served ¾ year 
under that hiring. Then 
went to Ashford where 
agreed with Robert Villers, 
baker, for term of 15 
months to teach him the 
business of a baker for 
sum of 3 guineas. In a little 
time after he bound himself 
by indenture to Robert 
Villers for term of 7 years. 
Served his master 15 
months according to his 1st 

agreement, sometimes 2 
sometimes 4 times a week 
as business required. 
Remainder of his time he 
looked upon himself to be 
his own master and to do 
what he pleased. He had 
neither his victuals nor his 
lodging with his master but 
at his father’s in Ashford. 
At end of 15 months his 
master let himself at liberty 
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from his indenture and he 
afterwards worked as a 
journeyman baker with the 
said Robert Villers for 1½ 
years. 

Baker, Thomas Settlement 
Certificate 

Tideswell Winster 7 Feb 
1714/171
5 

Aged 10 years. Son of 
Robert Baker, late of 
Tideswell. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/351 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Ball, John Settlement 
Case Note 

Winster South Wingfield 27 Sep 
1737. 

[Scrap of paper attached to 
settlement certificate for 
Joseph Lees]: ‘This is to 
satisfy the Overseers of 
the Poor of Winster that 
no-one will take care of 
John Ball wife according to 
law from the Overseers of 
South Wingfield. John 
Nuttall Overseer,  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/371
a (MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Ball, John and his 
wife Ellen and 
their child Ralph 

Removal 
Order 

Winster South Wingfield 16 Jul 
1740 

22 Sep 1740 then 
delivered John Ball and 
Ellen his wife to the 
Churchwardens and 
Overseers of the Poor of 
South Wingfield. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/527 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Ball, John Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  23 Jul 
1741 

He was born at 
Coddington in the parish of 
Crich. That his father never 
rented any house nor land 
in the liberty of Crich but 
believes and has heard his 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/380 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 
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father say that his 
settlement was at Morton, 
where he was born and 
where his father’s 
settlement was. When he 
was about 12 or 13 years 
of age, his father took a 
farm of 25 pounds a year, 
part in Crich, and part in 
South Wingfield. a House 
and land at the rent of 15 
pounds a year lay in South 
Wingfield and his father 
lived in the said house 7 
years and paid the said 
rent of 15 pounds a year 
and all assessments for 
the said house and land. 
He lived all the 7 years 
with his father at South 
Wingfield. When he was 
about 20 years of age, his 
father left South Wingfield 
and went to live at Senor in 
the Liberty of Ault 
Hucknall, and rented a 
farm of upwards of 38 
pounds a year there. 
Where he now lives, he 
saith he lived with his 
father at Senor about a 
fortnight. He saith he has 
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lived in several places 
since, but never rented any 
house, nor land to the 
balance of 10 pounds a 
year, nor done any other 
act to gain a settlement. 
He now resides at Winster.  

Ball, John and his 
wife Ellen and 
their children 
Ralph and 
Rebecka 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Ault Hucknall Winster 6 Oct 
1741 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/379 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Barber, Edward  Settlement 
Certificate List 

Stoney 
Middleton 

Eyam 1706  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Barber, Elizabeth Settlement 
Certificate List 

Greasley 
(Nottinghamshir
e?) 

Eyam 1698 Single-woman Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Barber, James 
and Elizabeth his 
wife 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Pilsley Foolow 11 Jul 
1763 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D7676/BagC/5
66/70 

Barber, John Settlement 
Certificate List 

Brackenfield Eyam 1734  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Barbers, Thomas Settlement 
Certificate List 

Foolow Eyam 1707  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Barber, William 
and Mary his wife 

Removal 
Order 

Ashford Blyth 
(Nottinghamshir
e) 

6 Feb 
1735/173
6 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO3/3 
(alt. ref. 



21 

  

D747/A/PO/64) 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Barber, William 
and Mary his wife 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Stirrup (parish of 
Blyth, 
[Nottinghamshire
]) 

Ashford 9 Feb 
1735/173
6 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office 
D747/A/PO1/8 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Barker, Edmund 
and his wife Ellen 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Darley Winster 18 Dec 
1768 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/418 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Barker, Frances  Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  10 Feb 
1724/172
5 

Frances Barker, late wife 
of John Barker. She was 
married to her husband 
John Barker about 26 or 
28 years ago in the chapel 
of Winster and immediately 
after that lived with her 
husband in Winster about 
6 or 8 years and kept an 
ale house all that time and 
then removed to Birchover 
and hired there upon a 
farm of about 25 pounds a 
year under Mr Beresford 
about 13 years. And then 
removed to Winster again 
and there lived again with 
her husband twixt 6 and 7 
years, in which time her 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/447 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 
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husband died and after his 
death she continued in 
Winster about 3 weeks or 
a month, and then went to 
live with her son at Derby 
and there lived about 14 or 
15 weeks and then 
returned to Winster again 
where she hath lived ever 
since and she cannot tell 
that she hath gained any 
settlement since she left 
Birchover.  

Barker, Frances 
and Hannah his 
wife and their 
children George 
and Ann 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Baslow Beeley 11 Jun 
1778 

Weaver. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1191/A/PO/1 
(MICROFILM 
37 vol 13) 

Barker, George 
and his wife and 
family 

Settlement 
Certificate  

Ecclesfield 
(West Riding of 
Yorkshire) 

Bakewell 11 Jan 
1755 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/6
9-70 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Barker, John and 
his wife Jane and 
their children 
William, Lidia, 
Margaret and 
Mary 

Removal 
Order 

Ashover Baslow 16 Jan 
1752 

  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/5/
4 (MICROFILM 
M598 vol 7) 

Barker, John and 
his wife Elizabeth 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Birchover Winster [c. 1758]  No date given but 
assumed c.1758 because 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
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and their children 
Elizabeth and 
John  

of position in bundle of 
documents broadly 
chronologically arranged. 

D776/A/PO/408 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Barker, Jonathan 
and his wife 
Jemima  

Removal 
Order 

Newark upon 
Trent 
(Nottinghamshir
e) 

Bakewell 26 Jun 
1832 

Suspended order. 
Jonathan Barker, one of 
the paupers, is at present 
unable to travel by reason 
of sickness. The sum of 4 
pounds 12 shillings 6 
pence hath been incurred 
by the suspension of the 
order of the removal, to be 
paid by the 
Churchwardens and 
Overseers of the Poor of 
the parish of Bakewell. 
Dated 28 Aug 1832. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/54-55 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 

Barker, Rachael 
and Edmund 

Removal 
Order 

Winster Wensley (in 
parish of 
Darley) 

24 Apr 
1758 

Rachael Barker under the 
age of 12 years and 
Edmund Barker under the 
age of 10 years, children of 
Edmund and Elizabeth 
Barker, late of Winster, 
who were certificate 
people there from Wensley 
as appear to us by a 
certificate now produced 
and allowed off by Samuel 
Sanders and Henry Eyre, 
two of his Majesties 
Justices of the Peace. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/537 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Barker, Robert Settlement Darley Winster 18 Dec  Derbyshire 
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and his wife Sarah 
and their 3 
children Robert, 
George and 
Edmund 

Certificate 1768 Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/416 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Barker, Thomas 
and his wife 
Sarah, and their 
two children, John 
(2) and Hannah 
(1) 

Removal 
Order 

Eyam 
Woodlands 

Baslow 12 Sep 
1825 

  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/5/
24 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 7) 

Barker, William 
and Ann his wife 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Baslow Beeley 14 Apr 
1773 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1191/A/PO/1 
(MICROFILM 
37 vol 13) 

Barrowclough, 
George 

Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  26 Apr 
1800 

He is 56 years of age. He 
was born at New Hill in the 
parish of Church Burton, 
Yorkshire, but believes his 
father’s settlement was at 
Shurland (?) in the parish 
of Church Barton, 
Yorkshire. Saith that he 
hath not to the best of his 
knowledge done any act to 
separate himself from the 
place of his father’s 
settlement.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
28 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 

Barton, Edward  Settlement 
Certificate List 

Tideswell Eyam 1747  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 
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Barton, Joseph Settlement 
Examination 

Doewood (in 
hamlet of Beeley 
in parish of 
Bakewell) 

 10 Mar 
1777 

Born at Ashover. At 16 
hired to Peter Ellot of 
Woolley Moor in parish of 
North Wingfield for wages 
of £8 8s and his bed and 
board and served for 1 
year. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1191/A/PO/1 
(MICROFILM 
37 vol 13) 

Barton, Martha Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  19 Jan 
1801 

Single-woman. She is 16 
years of age. She was 
born at Baslow. But she 
hath heard her father say 
that his settlement was at 
Bakewell. When she was 
about 13 years of age she 
went to live at Pilsley, 
where she was hired to 
Thomas Dungworth for a 
year for the wages of 2 
pounds or 2 guineas, she 
doth not know which. She 
served the said year and a 
fortnight over and received 
her wage. She then went 
to live at Edensor, where 
she was hired for a year by 
Edward Slow for the 
wages of 2 pounds 10 
shillings. She served the 
year within about a week, 
that some difference 
arriving between her and 
her mistress she left her 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
43 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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place of her own accord 
and was only paid her 
wages for the time she 
served. Since which time 
she hath done no act 
whereby to gain a 
settlement.  

Bateman, Hannah Removal 
Order 

Youlgreave Bakewell 23 Oct 
1827 

Single-woman. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/50 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 

Bateman, Mary, 
together with the 
child or children 
with which she is 
now pregnant 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Bakewell Winster 23 Aug 
1791 

Pregnant.  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/438 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Bateman, Thomas Settlement 
Examination 

Middleton Bakewell 3 Nov 
1806 

Aged 20. Born at 
Youlgreave. Father’s 
settlement was at 
Bakewell. When he was 
very young he was taken 
by his grandfather, 
Thomas Millward of Alport, 
who resided there under a 
certificate from Middleton. 
He learned the trade of a 
blacksmith but never was 
hired or bound by any 
indentures. That he was 
about 18 years old he left 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/11
/17 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 
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his grandfather and went 
to Sheffield and worked as 
journeyman blacksmith for 
about 9 months. There 
married. That since he has 
not found any other 
settlement. 

Baxter, Samuel Settlement 
Certificate List 

Great Longstone Eyam 1739  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Baxtor, Robert  Settlement 
Certificate List 

Great Longstone  Eyam 1741  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Bealey, Anthony 
and his children 
Mary, Ann and 
Sarah 

Settlement 
Certificate  

Wirksworth Winster 2 Mar 
1756 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/399 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Beard, Elizabeth Settlement 
Examination 

Bakewell  14 Mar 
1800 

Aged 29. Born at Tideswell 
where she believes her 
father had legal settlement. 
When she was about 10 
years old her father went 
to live at Bakewell. She 
resided much of the time 
with her father at Bakewell. 
She was never hired or 
served in any place a year 
in any place nor done any 
act to the best of her 
knowledge whereby to 
gain a settlement. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/11
/15 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 
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Beard, Mary Removal 
Order 

Bakewell Tideswell 21 Feb 
1807 

Examination of Richard 
Beard, her father found 
proof their legal settlement 
is in Tideswell. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/22 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 

Beaver, Rowland 
and Elizabeth his 
wife and daughter 
Sophia 

Removal 
Order 

Youlgreave Bakewell 9 Nov 
1740 

Apprehended in 
Youlgreave as rogues and 
vagabonds. Upon 
examination appears they 
are vagrants and passed 
through Bakewell without 
being apprehended. Place 
of last legal settlement 
cannot be discovered. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
Q/RV/1/2/1 

Beck, Richard 
alias Spencer 

Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  6 Jun 
1783 

Miner. He was born at 
Elton (an illegitimate child). 
That when he was about 6 
months old his mother 
Sarah Beck was married to 
William Blackwell of 
Winster, and went to live at 
Brownhills (Staffordshire) 
where he continued to live 
with his said mother and 
her husband, till he was 
about 9 years old when he 
removed with them to 
Winster, and went to live 
with William Wright at 
Winster and continued to 
live with him about a year 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/496 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 
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and an half but does not 
recollect being under any 
agreement with the said 
William Wright any other 
than that he remembers 
that the said William Wright 
provided him with meat, 
drink, washing, lodging 
and apparel during the 
said year and an half. That 
he afterwards worked in 
sundry places as a 
labouring miner until he 
was married, which was 
about 6 years ago at 
Winster where the said 
examinant has continued 
to live to this time as a 
labouring miner, which is 
all the said examinant 
knows concerning his 
settlement.  

Beecroft, Lancelot 
(or Beaucroft?) 
and his wife 
Rebecca and son 
William (5), 
daughter Ann (1 
½) and son 
Lancelot (2 
months) 

Removal 
Order 

Winster Coniston, near 
Skipton 
(Yorkshire) 

22 Apr 
1771 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/549 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Beecroft, Lancelot Settlement Coniston, Winster 15 Jun  Derbyshire 
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and his wife 
Rebecca and their 
children William, 
Ann and Lancelot 

Certificate Kettlewell Dale 
(West Riding of 
Yorkshire) 

1771 Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/426 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Belfitt, Elizabeth 
and the child or 
children of which 
she is now 
pregnant 

Settlement 
Certificate  

Ashford Bakewell 23 Nov 
1821 

Single-woman and 
pregnant. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057A/PO9/1
06 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Bell, Ben and his 
wife Elizabeth 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Wirksworth Winster 3 Mar 
1756 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/400 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Bell, Mary and the 
child or children 
that she now 
goeth with 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Shirland Winster 21 Dec 
1813 

Spinster and pregnant. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/444 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Bell, William Settlement 
Certificate List 

Stoney 
Middleton 

Eyam 1711  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Benison, 
Benjamin 

Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  Jul 1770 He was born at Eyam 
where his father was a 
legal inhabitant. That when 
he was about 23 years of 
age, having then done 
nothing to alter his 
settlement, he was enlisted 
as a soldier into the 
Cheshire militia then 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/472 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 
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commanded by the Right 
Honourable Lord Malpas in 
which service he continued 
3 years. And on 28  
September 1765 was 
discharged by the then 
Lord Grey, now Earl of 
Stamford who then 
commanded the said 
regiment. That after his 
discharge he came to 
Winster where he has 
since resided, but has not 
done any act otherwise 
then as before related to 
alter his settlement. 

Bennet, Ann and 
her child or 
children she is 
now going with 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Upper Haddon Ashford 13 Oct 
1797 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO1/32 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Bennet, 
Christopher 
 

Removal 
Order 

Heafield 
[Hayfield] 

Dinting (in 
parish of 
Glossop) 

11 Mar 
1734 

 
 
 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D3705/49/4 

Bennet, Edward 
and Anne his wife 

Removal 
Order 

Heafield 
[Hayfield] 

Malcaffe (in 
parish of 
Chapel-en-le 
Frith) 

11 Mar 
1734 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D3705/49/6 
 

Bennet, Samuel 
and his wife Mary 
with their 
daughters Ann (2) 

Removal 
Order 

Winster Alstonefield 
(Staffordshire) 

30 Jul 
1775 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/551 
(MICROFILM 
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and Hannah (2 
months) 

391 vol 7) 

Bennet, Thomas  Settlement 
Certificate List 

Heathfield 
[Hayfield] 

Eyam 1734  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Bennett, Ann Removal 
Order 

Winster Croxden 
(Staffordshire) 

17 Jan 
1771 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/547 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Bennett, Elizabeth Removal 
Order 

Winster Musden 
Grange 
(Staffordshire) 

20 Nov 
1770 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/544 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Bennett, Elizabeth 
and her child John 
aged about 2 
months 

Removal 
Order 

Bakewell Ashford 26 May 
1819 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/33 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 

Bennett, Hannah Settlement 
Examination 

Ashford  1 Jul 
1773 

Spinster. Upwards of 17 
years of age. Believes she 
was born in Ashford where 
her father at the time lived 
by virtue of a certificate 
from Over Haddon in the 
parish of Bakewell. Lived 
with her father in Ashford 
until aged 13. Then her 
father hired her to Thomas 
Beighton of Radbourne, 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO2/9 
(alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/42) 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 
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Derbyshire, farmer, for 1 
year for 30 shillings wages. 
Served that year and 
received her wages. Hired 
again with the said 
Thomas Beighton for 
another year for 45 
shillings wages. Served 
that year and received her 
wages. Afterwards hired 
herself to Joseph 
Carrington of Bakewell, 
Shopkeeper, for 1 year for 
35 shillings wages. Served 
that year and received her 
wages. Believes Joseph 
Carrington resides in 
Bakewell by virtue of a 
certificate but she does not 
know where. 

Bennett, John and 
his wife Dorothy 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Croxden 
(Staffordshire) 

Winster 17 Jan 
1771 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/428 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Bennett, John Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  26 Apr 
1800 

He is about 47 years of 
age. He was born at 
Wadsley in the parish of 
Ecclesfield, Yorkshire, 
where his father had a 
legal settlement. When he 
was 2 years old (his father 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
29 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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being dead) his 
grandfather Peter Carnil 
who resided in the parish 
of Ecclesall Bierly 
[Bierlow?] (Yorkshire) took 
this deponent and brought 
him up. He was bound 
apprentice by the Parish 
Officers of Wadsley to his 
grandfather Peter Carnil in 
the parish of Ecclesall 
Bierly. He served his 
grandfather till he was 
about 16 years if age, then 
he hired himself with his 
grandfather’s consent to 
James Vickers of Ecclesall 
Bierly for the term of 5 
years to work at the Coal 
Pitts. He served the said 
term, and hath worked as 
a collier ever since and 
hath not to the best of his 
knowledge done any other 
act whereby to gain a 
settlement.  

Bennett, Robert 
and Catherine his 
wife and son John 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Upper Haddon Ashford 13 Jul 
1731 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office 
D747/A/PO1/ 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Bennet, Thomas Settlement Ilam Winster 21 May  Derbyshire 
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and his wife and 
children 

Certificate (Staffordshire) 1768 Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/420 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Bennett, William 
and Esther his 
wife 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Upper Haddon Ashford 3 Apr 
1752 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO1/18 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Bennit, Ralph Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  20 Jul 
1771 

(Document cut in half 
lengthways, only able to 
read the right-hand side of 
it). Miller. Born in the 
parish of Chapel (en-le 
Frith?) … His father had a 
legal settlement … (When 
he was) 15 years of age he 
was bound as an 
(apprentice) … agreement 
to Anthony Lingard (?) of 
… county, miller, for 3 
years which … aforesaid 
and then was hired for …. 
Grundy of Baslow 
aforesaid, miller … years 
at Baslow aforesaid after 
that … Mr George Bradley 
of Birchover, miller … by 
the week wages and vails 
served … above a year 
then he in partnership … 
Frost of Alport aforesaid at 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
11 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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…. by the year rent which 
Mill they … that about 5 
months before the … were 
expired he left Alport and 
… Bowes of Stoney 
Middleton at his … Liberty 
of Nether Padley in which 
liberty he … served the 
said Mr Bower above a 
year … and 6 pence by the 
week with … a vail as 
wage from thence about … 
March 1763 he was hired 
for a …. aforesaid John 
Grundy of Baslow … 
Married the 28th day of 
January … since then hath 
done no act to gain … 
otherwise than as above 
set forth. 

Bennitt, George 
and Helen his wife 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Woodland Foolow 9 Apr 
1720 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D7676/BagC/5
66/30 

Berisford, George 
and his wife Mary  

Settlement 
Certificate 
(and 
examination?) 

Chatsworth Bakewell 15 Jan 
1708/170
9 

George Berisford and his 
wife Mary are sometime 
removed out of the liberty 
of Chatsworth with an 
intent to inhabit in 
Bakewell, but have not 
qualified themselves for 
the same as the law 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/1
3 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 
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requireth them. And 
whereas George Berisford 
last settlement was at 
Chatsworth as a hired 
servant for a term of a year 
with Mrs Mary Hackett of 
Chatsworth, with whom he 
lived the said term out. 
And whereas the Liberty of 
Chatsworth has no 
Overseers of the Poor 
appointed at present and 
for supply of with agents 
Mr William Gorvenor and 
William Barker as agents 
for his Grace the Duke of 
Devonshire own and 
acknowledge George 
Berisford to be lawfully 
settled within Chatsworth. 
And that we will at any 
time hereafter if they shall 
become chargeable to the 
town of Bakewell (except 
they shall acquired a 
settlement elsewhere) in 
witness whereof we have 
hereunto set our hands 
and seals the 15 day of 
January 1708.  

Berley, Benjaman 
and his wife and 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Bradwall Ashford 23 Sep 
1731 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
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child D747/A/PO1/7 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Berley, George 
and his wife 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Bradwall (Hope) Ashford 24 Jan 
1753 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO1/20 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Berley[?], John 
and Sarah his wife 
and children 
George, Elizabeth 
and …. 

Settlement 
Certificate 

 Hope [early 
18th 
cent?] 

[Document largely 
obliterated. Date not 
visible]. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1038A/PO/89 
 

Berrisford, 
Deborah 

Removal 
Order 

Bakewell Wirksworth 15 Jul 
1742 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/13 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 

Berrisford, 
Richard and his 
wife 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Rowsley Beeley 22 Sep 
1712 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1191/A/PO/1 
(MICROFILM 
37 vol 13) 

Bestwick, 
Elizabeth 

Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  2 Jun 
1826 

Single-woman. She is 23 
years of age and was born 
in the township of Baslow, 
in the parish of Bakewell 
as she has heard and 
believes that on or about 
the month of July 1823 she 
hired herself to George 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
65 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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Bowering of Stockport, 
Chester, victualler for 1 
year at the wages of 6 
pounds and 10 shillings. 
That she entered upon her 
said service and continued 
therein for nearly 2 years 
and received her full 
wages for the same time. 
And that she has not since 
done any act by which she 
has gained a settlement. 
And that she is now 
pregnant with child.  

Bestwick, 
Elizabeth 

Settlement 
Certificate 
Letter 

Stockport Baslow 26 Jun 
1826 

Sent from Stockport to 
Overseers of the Poor, 
Baslow: ‘We intend to give 
Betty Bestwick a 
certificate, it will be sent to 
you in the course of ten 
days. 
Yours, J. (Joseph) Halton’ 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/2/
11/2 

Bestwick, 
Elizabeth and the 
child or children of 
which she is now 
pregnant 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Stockport Baslow 6 Jul 
1826 

Single-woman and 
pregnant. Elizabeth 
Bestwick and the child or 
children when born to be 
legally settled in Stockport.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/2/
11/3 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 5) 

Bestwick, 
Elizabeth and the 
child or children of 
which she is now 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Stockport Baslow 26 Feb 
1829 

Single-woman and 
pregnant. Elizabeth 
Bestwick and the child or 
children when born to be 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/2/
11/1 
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pregnant legally settled in the 
township of Stockport.  

(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 5) 

Beswick, William Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  30 Apr 
1784 

Labourer. He was born at 
Baslow where he believes 
his father was legally 
settled. That when he was 
7 years of age he was 
bound apprentice to 
William Ashford of 
Ecclesall Brierly in the 
county of York for 8 years 
that he stayed only 3 years 
and was then with the 
consent of his master 
bound apprentice to John 
Burdikin (?) of [?] Edge in 
the parish of Ecclesall 
Brierly for the term of 7 
years. That when he had 
served somewhat more 
than 3 years, the 
remaining term of his 
apprenticeship was 
purchased by his father for 
the consideration of 2 
pounds 12 shillings and 6 
pence. That he returned 
with his father to Baslow 
and continued with him 
about a year and a half 
working as a labourer. 
That he then went to work 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
14 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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at Worksop Manor as a 
mason for a quarter of a 
year, where he married 
and then returned to 
Baslow. Since his return 
has done various kinds of 
labouring work particularly 
sawing of wood and that 
this all which he the said 
deponent knows of his 
settlement. 
 
(On reverse, in difficult 
handwriting) Dispute over 
indenture terms, 
settlement place and 
money. Pauper’s father to 
pay 40 shillings to Burdikin 
for the boy’s clothes. 
Obtained that the pauper 
gained a settlement in 
Ecclesall but questioning if 
gained a subsequent 
settlement in Baslow. 
Father paid Burdikin 2 
pounds 12 shillings and 6 
pence for losing the 
apprentice, which the 
master has a receipt of. If 
the apprentice appears in 
fact to have worked 
afterwards as a labourer, I 
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think such subsequent 
service cannot be 
considered as a service 
under the indenture in 
Baslow and therefore a 
settlement to have been 
previously acquired in 
Ecclesall that will continue 
to be his settlement still. 28 
Feb 1786 

Bierly, Benjamin Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  26 Apr 
1800 

He is about 32 years of 
age. He was born at 
Ashford, where his father 
at the time had a legal 
settlement. That when he 
about 10 years of age he 
was bound apprentice by 
indenture to John Bierly of 
Ashford, framework knitter, 
till he was 21 years of age. 
That he served 7 years 
and then his father and his 
master agreed for the 
remainder of his term and 
his master gave his father 
his indentures. Then he 
hired himself to Richard 
Arkwright Esq. of Lumford 
in the Township of Great 
Longstone, cotton 
manufacturer, for the term 
of 4 years. He served the 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
34 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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said term, but lodged at 
Ashford during the whole 
term, since which time he 
hath done no act whereby 
to gain a settlement.  

Billinge, George  Settlement 
Certificate List 

Bakewell Eyam 1753  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Billinge, Joseph 
and his wife 
Hannah 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Middle Quarter 
(parish of 
Hartington) 

Winster 9 Apr 
1740 

Tailor.  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/376 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Billington, 
Elizabeth alias 
Elizabeth 
Millington 

Removal 
Order 

Manchester Bubnell with 
Baslow 

25 Sep 
1828 

Single-woman now 
pregnant. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/5/
27 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 7) 

Bingham, 
Archelaus 

Settlement 
Certificate List 

Hathersage Eyam 1735  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Birch, Esther 
together with the 
chid or children of 
which she is now 
pregnant 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Hathersage Baslow 15 Aug 
1806 

Pregnant.  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/2/
10 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 5) 

Birch, Hannah Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  7 Feb 
1806 

She lived with her father 
and her mother at Baslow 
till she was 16 years of 
age. She then went to live 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
51 
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at Farnley and was hired 
by John Froggatt for 3 
pounds the first year and 3 
guineas the second. She 
then went to live at Bubnell 
and was hired by 
Alexander Froggatt for a 
year for 4 guineas and a 
new pair of shoes. She 
began her servitude at 
Bubnell on the 17th day of 
January 1805 and left the 
14th day of December 
1805, and this is all she 
knoweth concerning her 
settlement.  

(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 

Birch, Hannah and 
the child or 
children she is 
now pregnant with 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Stoney 
Middleton 

Baslow 12 Apr 
1806 

Pregnant.  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/2/
8 (MICROFILM 
M598 vol 5) 

Birch, Robert and 
his wife or family 
or any of them so 
becoming 

Settlement 
Certificate  

Mansfield 
(Nottinghamshir
e) 

Bakewell 25 Mar 
1713 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/2
7 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Birch, William and 
his wife Eve 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Ashover Winster 3 Sep 
1763 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/414 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Birds, Thomas Removal Youlgreave Bakewell 17 May  Derbyshire 
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and his wife 
Elizabeth and their 
5 children William 
(14), Thomas (12), 
James (9), John 
(4) and Henry (2) 

Order 1825 Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/40 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 

Blackwall, Ann   Settlement 
Certificate List 
 

Attercliffe 
(Yorkshire) 

Eyam 1701 Widow Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Blackwall, John Settlement 
Certificate List 

Foolow Eyam 1734  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Blackwall, Samuel Settlement 
Certificate List 

Foolow Eyam 1737  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Blackwall, 
Thomas and his 
wife Ellen 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Wensley Winster 27 Dec 
1726 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/356 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Blackwell, Ann Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  14 Jul 
1740 

Single-woman. She was 
born at Winster, that her 
father had a settlement 
there. About 9 years since 
she was hired to Gervas 
Jackson of Breaston from 
about Martinmas to 
Michaelmas following at 2 
pounds and 2 shillings 
wages. She served the 
said time and received her 
wages. She then hired for 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/463 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 
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a year with the said 
Gervas Jackson at the 
same wages. She served 
that year and received her 
wages in money and other 
things to the balance. She 
then came to her mother at 
Winster and has continued 
there ever since. She has 
not been hired since nor 
has done any act to gain a 
settlement.  

Blackwell, Ann Removal 
Order 

Winster Breason 16 Jul 
1740 

12 August 1740. Delivered 
Ann Blackwell to the 
Churchwardens and 
Overseers of the Poor of 
the Hamlet of Breason.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/532 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Blackwell, Ann Removal 
Order 

Winster Breason 23 Jul 
1740 

Single-woman. Order to 
send Ann Blackwell to the 
place of her last legal 
settlement in Breason was 
appealed. Ann Blackwell 
returned and inhabits 
Winster. Order to send her 
back to Breason again.   

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/522 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Blackwell, John  Settlement 
Certificate List 

Foolow Eyam 1734  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Blackwell, Joshua 
and wife and 
family 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Nottingham (St 
Mary’s parish) 

Hope 10 Jul 
1770 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1038A/PO/10
0(a) 
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Blackwell, Richard Removal 
Order (and 
Settlement 
Examination) 

Winster Breason 17 Jan 
1740 

Richard a bastard child 
was lately born there (in 
Winster) of the body of 
Ann Blackwell, single-
woman, who returned 
immediately after she been 
regularly removed from 
Winster to Breason, where 
her settlement then was 
and now is, to Winster and 
was soon after delivered 
there of the said Bastard. 
Upon the oath of Ann 
Blackwell his mother, he is 
legally settled in Breason. 
 
10 Feb 1740. Then 
delivered Richard, bastard 
child of Ann Blackwell.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/531 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Blackwell, William 
and Johanna his 
wife and children: 
Charlotte (14), 
Mary (12), John 
(10), Thomas (8), 
William (6), 
Joseph (4), 
Johanna (2), 
Elizabeth (3 
weeks) 

Removal 
Order 

Cambridge (St 
Andrew the 
Less) 

Ashford 31 Aug 
1830 

With suspended 
order/note: ‘Johanna 
Blackwell at present 
unable to travel by reason 
of sickness’. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO3/18 
(alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/81(
MICROFILM 17 
vol 2) 

Blagden, Elias Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  26 Apr 
1800 

He is 23 years of age. He 
was born at Pilsley but 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
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believes his father’s 
settlement was at 
Bakewell. When he was 
about 14 years of age he 
was articled to Messrs 
Gordon Pairs & Co. at 
Calver Cotton Mill for the 
term of 7 years. He served 
the said company at 
Calver Cotton Mill 5 years 
for meat, clothes and 
lodging. The sixth year he 
had 7 shillings a week and 
the last year he had 9 
shillings a week. He 
lodged the first 6 years in 
Calver and the greatest 
part of the last year he 
lodged in Baslow. Since 
which time he hath worked 
at Calver Cotton Mill and 
hath not to the best of his 
knowledge done any other 
act whereby to gain a 
settlement. 

D2380/A/PO/3/
30 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 

Blakemore, John Settlement 
Examination 

 Ashford 22 Jan 
1842 

Born at Bromlow in parish 
of Worthing (County Salop 
[Shropshire]). 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO2/28 
(alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/61) 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 
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Bland, Jos. Settlement 
Certificate List 

Bonsall Eyam 1720  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Bland, Richard 
and his wife and 
family 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Edensor Bakewell 21 Apr 
1718 

Blacksmith. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/3
5 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Bland, Thomas Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  23 Jan 
1786 

Miner, and now a private 
soldier in his Majesty’s 59th 
Regiment of Foot and also 
a substitute in the 
Derbyshire Militia. He was 
born at Wensley where his 
father John Bland was 
legally settled. That he is 
now 18 years of age and 
was married about a 
month or 5 weeks since to 
Hannah Stone of Winster, 
who has since his 
marriage been delivered of 
a female child called 
Susanna. And that he has 
not done any act whatever 
to gain a settlement.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/499 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 

Blanksby, 
Jonathan 

Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  26 Apr 
1800 

He is about 30 years of 
age. He was born at 
Pilsley where his father 
had a legal settlement. He 
served an apprenticeship 
as a weaver at Pilsley and 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
32 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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hath not to the best of his 
knowledge done any act to 
gain a settlement in any 
other place.  

Boam, Frances 
and the child or 
children of which 
she is now 
pregnant. 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Bredbury 
(Chester) 

Baslow 4 Oct 
1826 

Single-woman and 
pregnant. Frances Boam 
and the child or children 
when born to be legally 
settled in Bredbury.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/2/
12 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 5) 

Boam, George Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  May 
1758 

His father Francis Boam 
was formerly settled at 
Bakewell and that in the 
year 1734 as he believes 
he came to Winster by 
certificate to the place from 
Bakewell and that he this 
examinant was born at 
Winster and will be 24 
years old next June. That 
his father have done any 
act as he believes to gain 
any settlement in Winster 
or any other place since 
obtaining a certificate from 
Bakewell to Winster. And 
further saith he was 
married some time since to 
Ann his wife but that they 
have no child.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/471 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 

Boam, James and 
his wife Ann and 

Removal 
Order 

Winster Darley 18 Jan 
1769 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
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their two children 
James (4), 
Thomas (1/4 of a 
year) 

D776/A/PO/540 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Boam, James and 
his wife Ann and 
their 2 children 
James and 
Thomas 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Darley Winster 24 Jan 
1769 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/423 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Boam, Thomas 
and wife and child 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Monyash Foolow 16 Mar 
1719 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D7676/BagC/5
66/69 

Boame, Francis 
and his wife Sarah 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Bakewell Winster 7 Apr 
1734 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/367 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Boden, Richard 
and his wife Anne 
and their issue 

Settlement 
Certificate  

Twycross 
(Leicestershire) 

Bakewell 9 Mar 
1776 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/7
9 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Bold, Thomas Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  7 Nov 
1740 

He was born at Wordsley 
(Staffordshire). That when 
he was about 13 years old 
he was bound apprentice 
for 7 years to Samuel 
Hartle of Wittnall(?) by 
indenture in the parish of 
Wolverhampton in 
Staffordshire, a locksmith, 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/462 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 
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and that he served him the 
said 7 years. About 9 
years after, he saith he 
was hired to Mr Daniel 
Hawthorn of Pelsall in the 
parish of Wolverhampton 
for 3 pounds 5 shillings a 
year wages. His business 
was to work at a coal 
engine, and to look after 
some grounds and his 
master’s horse. He saith 
he lived and lay in his 
master’s house, and that 
he left his master by his 
consent about 5 weeks 
before his year was up and 
that he received his full 
wages.  

Bolsover, Maria Removal 
Order 

Ashford Ludworth 13 Apr 
1831 

With suspended order 
‘unable to travel by reason 
of sickness’. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO3/19 
(alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/82(
MICROFILM 17 
vol 2) 

Bond, Bethiah Removal 
Order 

Monyash Ashford 8 Feb 
1791 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO3/9 
(alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/71) 
(MICROFILM 
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17 vol 2) 

Bond, Fanny Settlement 
Examination 

Beeley  6 [?] 
1826 

Widow. Age 25, born at 
Beeley in parish of 
Bakewell. On 6 Feb 1822 
married to Peter Bond in 
Church at Beeley and with 
whom had 2 children, 
Susanna (3) and Peter (9 
months), both now living. 
Husband died 2 months 
ago. Husband frequently 
told her if she wanted 
anything after his death 
she must apply to the 
parish of Edensor, for he 
belonged there, having 
been hired by the Rev. 
Smith residing in Edensor 
for a year with whom he 
resided upwards of 3 
years. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1191/A/PO/1 
(MICROFILM 
37 vol 13) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Bonnington, Mary Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  27 Nov 
1819 

Spinster. Who saith she is 
about 20 years of age and 
she was born at 
Chesterfield, residing there 
but legally settled at 
Mapperley. She says when 
she was about 14 years of 
age she hired herself to 
Edward Hopkinson of 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
62 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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Chesterfield, currier, for the 
term of 1 year which term 
she served and afterwards 
hired herself to the 
Reverend John Barker of 
Baslow, for the term of 1 
year which term she 
served and 1 year more 
with the said John Barker 
and about 11 months since 
time after she hired herself 
to the Reverend Thomas 
Hill of Whitwell, for the 
term of 1 year but when 
she had served the said 
Thomas Hill about 10 
months her master paid 
her full years wages and 
she left on account of 
being then (with child 
crossed out) ill, when she 
hired herself to the 
Reverend Richard Astley 
of Halley Gunn near 
Halifax, Yorkshire, for the 
term of 1 year but when 
she had served about 7 
weeks she was obliged to 
leave on account of being 
with child, which child is 
likely to be born a bastard.  

Bonsal, Richard Settlement Monyash Bakewell 4 Jan  Derbyshire 
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and his wife 
Elizabeth Bonsal 
and their daughter 
Elizabeth 

Certificate  1737/173
8 

Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/5
5 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Booth, James Settlement 
Examination  

Winster  18 Jul 
1770 

He was born at Tideswell 
but cannot say that his 
father’s settlement was 
there. That when he was 
about 14 years of age was 
bound apprentice by 
indenture to Joseph 
Brightmore at Stoney 
Middleton, saddler, for 6 
years and accordingly 
served the said Joseph 
Brightmore 6 years at 
Stoney Middleton and 
since then set up his said 
trade at Winster where he 
rented a shop at the yearly 
rent of 4 pounds and 4 
shillings and paid taxes for 
the same to Church, King 
and Poor but cannot say 
whether his own name was 
put into the assessments. 
And saith he hath now quit 
possession of the said 
shop but whilst he was in 
possession of the shop he 
rented a tenement of 6 
pounds a year at Winster 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/473 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 
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both which amounted to 10 
pounds and 4 shillings a 
year and hath not done 
any other act whereby to 
gain himself a settlement 
to the best of his 
knowledge and belief.  

Botham, John and 
his wife and 4 
children 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Thornhill (in 
parish of Hope) 

Bakewell 15 Mar 
1712/171
3 

Labourer. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/2
4 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Bottom, Mary and 
the child or 
children with 
which she is now 
pregnant 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Monyash Bakewell 16 Nov 
1829 

Pregnant. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057A/PO9/1
09 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Boulsover, 
Samuel 

Settlement 
Examination 

Bakewell  [c. 1830] Labourer. He is upwards of 
75 years old. That he was 
born at Baslow of parents 
legally settled there. When 
he was about 15 years old 
he hired himself to John 
Posson of Baslow, farmer, 
for a year at £4 a year and 
that he stayed 2 years in 
that place. He was lawfully 
married within Parish 
Church at Bakewell to his 
present wife Susannah. He 
and his wife want to 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/11
/27 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 
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change their township to 
Bakewell.  

Bowden, John Settlement 
Certificate List 

Woodland Eyam 1736  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Bowler, Jemima 
and her 3 children 
Mary Ann (6), 
Hannah (4) and 
Anthony (2) 

Removal 
Order 

Chesterfield Winster 16 May 
1830 

Jemima the wife of John 
Bowler.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/572 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Bowman, Robert  Settlement 
Certificate List 

Litton Eyam 1747  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Bown, Ann 
(regarding her son 
John Bown) 

Settlement 
Examination 

Manchester Bakewell 20 Jun 
1811 

Widow. Speaking to the 
settlement of John Bown 
her son, a soldier. Her son 
was bound apprentice to 
Benjamin Aston of Darley, 
for 7 years which he 
served but Aston being a 
Certificate Inhabitant of 
Darley her said son did not 
gain a settlement there. 
Her husband John Bown 
belonged to Bakewell, as 
did his father. Family 
received relief from 
Overseers of Bakewell and 
never gained a settlement 
in his own right to her 
knowledge. Her son has a 
wife and John, her child 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/11
/22 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 
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aged 5 years. Jane Bown 
says that her husband and 
her never paid above 2 
shillings per week rent 
since they were married. 
 
(On reverse) Jane Bown 
lives at No.15 Peetor 
Street, near Deans Gate 
Manchester. 

Bown, Isaac and 
Elizabeth his wife 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Little Barlow Beeley 4 Jan 
1766 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1191/A/PO/1 
(MICROFILM 
37 vol 13) 

Bown, Jane and 
her son John (5) 

Removal 
Order 

Manchester Bakewell 20 Jun 
1811 

Jane Bown the wife of 
John Bown, a solider now 
absent and John her son 
aged 5 years. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/24 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 

Bradwell, George Settlement 
Certificate 

Hazlebadge Foolow 29 Mar 
1752 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D7676/BagC/5
66/59 

Bagshaw, George  Settlement 
Certificate List 

Abney Eyam 1755  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Bradbury, John Settlement 
Certificate 

Ashford-in-the 
Water 

Bakewell 23 Mar 
1740/174
1 

Cordwainer. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057A/PO9/6
1 (MICROFILM 
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32 vol 3) 

Bradshaw, John Settlement 
Certificate List 

Eckington Eyam 1753  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Bradshaw, 
Thomas 

Settlement 
Certificate List 

Eckington Eyam 1727  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Bragshaw, John  Settlement 
Certificate List 

Barnbey Eyam 1717  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Braithwaite, John 
alias Bamford 

Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  22 Dec 
1783 

He is about 19 years of 
age. He was born at 
Coventry (Warwickshire) 
where his father Richard 
Braithwaite then resided in 
the capacity of a 
journeyman dyer, but he 
believes his father’s legal 
place of abode was at that 
time at York. That when he 
was about 9 years of age 
he was bound apprentice 
by indenture to Robert 
Consatt in the parish of St 
Helens at York, hair 
dresser, for the term of 7 
years. That when he had 
served about 6 years of 
the said term some 
differences arose between 
him and his said master, 
and he the said apprentice 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/494 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 



60 

  

laid his complaint before 
the Mayor of York, in 
consequence of which it 
was agreed that they 
should part and 
accordingly his said master 
gave him up his 
indentures. That he has 
since lived in sundry 
places in different parts of 
England in the capacity of 
a junior hair dresser. That 
about a month ago he was 
married at Winster, where 
he has resided to this time.  

Brampton, 
Thomas and his 
wife Grace 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Hassop Winster 11 Jul 
1738 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/372 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Bramwall, Mary  Settlement 
Certificate List 

Bowden 
Middlecale 
(Chapel-en-le-
Frith) 

Eyam 1724  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Bramwell, Joseph Settlement 
Certificate  

Bakewell  10 Jun 
1796 

Labourer. Aged 50. Born at 
Rowsley where his father 
had resided under a 
certificate from Bakewell. 
When he was young his 
father removed the family 
from Rowsley to Beeley. 
When he was about 14 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/11
/8 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 
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years old he went to work 
at Chatsworth as a 
labourer. Worked at 
Chatsworth as a labourer 
for upwards of 30 years, 
but lived and lodged at 
Beeley all the time. 5 years 
ago he left Beeley for 
Bakewell and worked as a 
labourer ever since.  

Bramwell, 
Stephen and 
Grace his wife and 
children Joseph, 
Mary, Sarah, Jane 
and Stephen 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Bakewell Beeley 25 Apr 
1764 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1191/A/PO/1 
(MICROFILM 
37 vol 13) 

Brand, Ben (?and 
his wife Mary) 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Tideswell Foolow 6 Jun 
1745 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D7676/BagC/5
66/52 

Brassington, 
William  

Settlement 
Certificate List 

Little Longstone Eyam 1735  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Brewer, Daniel 
and his wife 
Dorothy 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Newbold 
Astbury(?) 
(Cheshire) 

Bakewell 1719  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/3
6 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Briddock, Mary Removal 
Order 

Beeley Chesterfield 23 Sep 
1712 

Single-woman. Hired 
servant with Richard 
Ousnam or Wostenholme 
with whom she lived a full 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1191/A/PO/1 
(MICROFILM 
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year and received 35s for 
her yearly wages.  

37 vol 13) 

Briddon, Mary and 
3 children: William 
(6), Samuel (3) 
and Francis (7 
weeks) 

Removal 
Order 

Bulwell 
(Nottinghamshir
e) 

Ashford 1831 Mary Briddon wife of 
William Briddon now 
absent from her. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO3/20 
(alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/83(
MICROFILM 17 
vol 2) 

Bridge, Benjamin Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  16 May 
1810 

He is about 34 years of 
age, and that he was born, 
as he hath been informed 
and verily believes, in the 
parish of Elton of parents 
legally settled there. That 
when he was about 11 or 
12 years of age, his father 
agreed with Richard Oddy 
of Bubnell, Bakewell, 
farmer, to serve him there 
for a year, and received 40 
shillings for his years 
wage. That he then came 
into Nottinghamshire and 
worked at the Coal Pits for 
6 or 7 years without ever 
hiring at daily wages. That 
he was then hired for a 
year to serve Edward 
Williamson at a colliery in 
Greasley parish but only 
ever served about half a 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
54 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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year, when they disagreed 
and parted. And that he 
hath not since been hired 
for or served a year, or 
done any other act or deed 
to acquire a settlement. 
That he now resides in the 
Parish of Eastwood 
(Nottinghamshire) with 
Ruth his wife, to whom he 
was married at Eastwood 
upwards of 10 years age 
and by whom he hath 4 
children, John (9), Frances 
(7), James (5 in June 
next), and Benjamin (6 
months), and are now 
chargeable there to.  

Bridge, Elizabeth 
and her three 
children Martha 
(6), William (3) 
and Joseph (1 
month) 

Removal 
Order 

Sheffield Bakewell 3 Apr 
1832 

Wife of Joseph Bridge who 
hath run away and left 
them. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/53 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 

Brightmoore, 
Barnet and his 
wife and family 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Sheffield Ashford 9 Jan 
1738/173
9 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office 
/D747/A/PO1/1
2 (MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Brightmore, David  Settlement 
Certificate List 

Foolow Eyam 1749  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 
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Brightmore, 
James 

Settlement 
Certificate List 

Foolow Eyam 1748  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Brittlebank, Hugh Settlement 
Certificate 

Heanor Winster 24 Jul 
1770 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/424 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Brittlebank, John 
(Senior) 

Settlement 
Certificate List 

Stoney 
Middleton 

Eyam 1702  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Brittlebank, John Settlement 
Certificate List 

Stoney 
Middleton 

Eyam 1721  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Broadchurch, 
George and his 
wife and family 

Settlement 
Certificate  

Derby (St 
Werburgh’s 
Parish) 

Bakewell 5 Mar 
1713/171
4 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/2
8 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Broadhurst, 
George  

Settlement 
Certificate List 

Woodland Eyam 1716  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Brocklehurst, 
Matthew 

Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  9 Nov 
1787 

He was born at Sheldon 
where he believes his 
father Matthew 
Brocklehurst had at that 
time a legal settlement. 
That when he was about 
15 years of age he was 
first out apprentice by 
indenture to Thomas 
Robinson of Wensley, 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/503 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 
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cordwainer, for the term of 
6 years. That he duly 
served his said master 
under the said indenture at 
Wensley until within about 
9 months before the 
expiration of the said 
indenture when he agreed 
with his said master for a 
sum of money for the 
remainder of his time, and 
with his consent then left 
his said master, since 
which time he has worked 
as a journeyman in his 
business. That he is 
married and Mary his wife 
and Matthew their child 
now reside with him at 
Winster.    

Brocklehurst, 
Matthew and his 
wife Mary and 
their son Matthew 
(2) 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Wensley and 
Snitterton 

Winster 28 Mar 
1788 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/436 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Bromehead, 
Nicholas and his 
wife Alice and 
their children 
George and 
Benjamin 
Bromehead 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Chesterfield Bakewell 12 Feb 
1755 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/7
1 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 
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Brommylow, 
George 

Settlement 
Examination 
and Removal 
Order 

Tideswell Wiggon 
[Wigan?] 
(Lancashire) 

19 Sep 
1740 

Age 74. Born at Parr in 
parish of Prescot 
(Lancashire). Aged 30, 
took farm at Wiggon of 
Richard Garrot of £40[?] 
per annum which he 
continued for 9 years. Age 
74, apprehended in 
Tideswell as rogue and 
vagabond. Upon 
examination, last legal 
settlement is Wiggon 
(Lancashire). 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
Q/RV/1/2/2(a-b) 

Broom, Abraham 
and Hannah his 
wife and their child 
Margaret (3) 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Thorsett(?) (in 
the parish of 
Glossop) 

Wardlow 26 Feb 
1754 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D3580/O/40 

Broom, Isaac and 
Rebecca his wife 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Little Longstone Ashford 30 Jun 
1741 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO1/13 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Broome Stephen Settlement 
Examination 

Little Longstone  5 Jul 
1731 

Born at Monsal Dale and 
bound apprentice to 
William Ainsworth of Little 
Longstone, weaver, for 7 
years, who was a 
certificate man…1729 he 
took a farm from Mr Edw 
Chieney of Ashford for 
which he was to pay 10 
pounds 12 shillings and 6 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D3580/O/37 
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pence and held the land 
that year and paid the rent 
and before rented 13 
pounds per annum there 
and since has not done 
any act to gain him any 
legal settlement.  

Broomhead, John 
and his wife Mary, 
and their child 
Catherine (11 
months) 

Removal 
Order 

Hathersage Baslow 18 Jan 
1822 

  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/5/
21 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 7) 

Broomhead, 
Robert and his 
wife and children 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Stanton Winster 8 Nov 
1723 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/355 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Broomhead, 
Robert and his 
wife Mary and 
their 2 sons 
Thomas and John 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Stanton and 
Birchover 

Winster 31 May 
1758 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/403 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Brown, John Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  6 June 
1783 

Labourer. He was born at 
New Battle in the County 
of Middle Lowden 
[Midlothian] (Scotland) at 
which time he believes his 
father James Brown had a 
legal settlement at Dundee 
in Scotland. That when he 
was about 8 years of age 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/493 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 
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he went on board the 
‘Royal Sovereign’ of 112 
Guns at Portsmouth where 
he continued about 12 
months as cook’s boy. 
Since which time he has 
been several voyages on 
board different ships to 
different parts of the world 
in capacity of a sailor. That 
about 14 years ago he 
bound himself apprentice 
to John Slight at Hull to 
learn the art of navigation 
for the term of 4 years. 
That after serving about 2 
years and a half of the said 
term during all which time 
he lived on board his 
Majesty’s ship, he was 
impressed on board ‘The 
Hind’ of 20 Guns. Since 
which time he has been 
several voyages on board 
different ships. That about 
9 years ago he was 
discharged from on board 
‘The Lenox’ at Portsmouth. 
That he afterwards worked 
in sundry places as a day 
labourer for about a year 
when he was married at 
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Pentrich (Derbyshire). 
Since which time he has 
lived chiefly at Swanwick in 
the capacity of a day 
labourer till within about 9 
months ago he has lived at 
Winster as a day labourer 
to this time which is all the 
examinant knows 
concerning his settlement. 
That the said examinant 
has now a wife with him 
named Bennett and 2 
children named John (5) 
and Elizabeth (3).  

Brownhill, George 
and his wife Mary 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Tideswell Bakewell 11 May 
1709 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/1
7 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Brownhill, 
Jonathan 

Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  19 Nov 
1800 

A private solider in the 
Royal Horse Guards. He 
was born at the parish of 
Chapel-en-le-Frith of 
parents legally settled 
there. At the age of 18 
years of thereabouts he 
was hired by his father to 
Henry Yates of Martin Side 
within the parish of 
Chapel-en-le-Frith, farmer, 
for 1 year which he duly 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
42 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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served, at Martin Side, and 
received his wages (9 
pounds). Since which time 
he hath not done any act 
matter or thing to gain a 
subsequent settlement 
elsewhere by servitude or 
otherwise howsoever. In 
February or March 1798 at 
Baslow in the parish of 
Bakewell, he intermarried 
with Elizabeth his present 
wife, by whom he hath 1 
child born in lawful 
wedlock, aged 1 year and 
upwards. Document taken 
before his Majesty’s 
Justices of the Peace of 
and for the town of 
Nottingham.  

Brownhill, William Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  27 Oct 
1834 

Jonathan Brownhill, 
labourer, examining of 
behalf of his son William 
Brownhill. William being 16 
years of age and Thomas 
Dungsworth of Pilsley 
being understood to be in 
want of a servant he on 
leaving his work at the tan 
yard at Baslow in the 
evening at the latter end of 
the year went to Pilsley 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
67 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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and on entering the  house 
of Thomas Dungsworth, he 
said to him I understand 
you are in want of a boy, 
Dungsworth and went I 
am. Examinant said I’ve 
one offer to you and 
required  5 pounds wages. 
He refused to give more 
than 4 pounds 10 shillings 
for a year, which they at 
last agreed to. Examinant 
can positively swear that a 
year was mentioned and 
understood by both 
parties. His son entered 
upon the service the next 
morning, remained there a 
whole year and did not 
leave at the end of 50 
weeks. His son brought the 
entire sum of 4 pounds 
and 10 shillings. No one 
was present save an old 
woman, who he believes is 
now dead.  

Brunt, Elizabeth Removal 
Order 

Sheffield Bakewell 1 Feb 
1833 

Widow. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/58 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 
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Buckley, George Settlement 
Examination 

Bakewell  5 Dec 
1834 

Mason. Aged 27. Born in 
Manchester. On or about 
27th March 1826 he was by 
indenture bound 
apprentice to John Vickers 
of Caulton Houses, 
Edensor, mason for the 
time of 4 years. Completed 
service. Then lodged with 
his father Allen Buckley of 
Beeley during the whole of 
the said time except about 
the last 10 weeks during 
which time he lodged with 
Mary Beard of Bakewell, 
widow. Slept at her house 
the whole of that time and 
the last night of his 
apprenticeship. That since 
the expiration of his 
apprenticeship he worked 
with different masters but 
has never done any act 
whereby to gain a 
settlement. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/11
/31 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Buich, Simon Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  6 Feb 
1786 

Labourer. He was born at 
Harn (?) (Staffordshire) 
where he believes his 
father Joseph Buich had at 
that time a legal 
settlement. That when he 
was about 13 years of age 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
18 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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he was put out apprentice 
by Indenture to William 
Green of Hope, cordwainer 
for the term of 7 years. 
That after he had resided 
with his said master about 
6 months under the said 
Indenture he ran away 
from his master, and went 
to live with Adam Fevinice 
(?) at Hathersage with 
whom he was hired to be 
his servant for 1 year and 
served the said year and 
continued 3 years longer 
with the said Adam 
Fevinice at Hathersage. 
That he afterwards lived in 
Sundry places for the 
space of about 6 years but 
was not hired for a year in 
any one place. That he 
then went to live with 
George Bennett at Padley 
Mill in the township of 
Hathersage with whom he 
was hired to be his Servant 
for the term of 1 year, and 
duly served the same that 
he continued to live with 
this said master at Padley 
Mill for 3 years longer as 
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an hired servant by the 
year. That for the space of 
2 years afterwards he lived 
in sundry places as a 
servant but was not hired 
for a year in any one place. 
When he was married as 
Baslow where he has 
resided to this time in the 
capacity of a day labourer. 
That Hannah his wife and 
Susannah and Easter (?) 
their children now reside 
with him at Baslow.  

Buich, Simon Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  21 Dec 
1787 

Labourer. He was born at 
Wall Close in the parish of 
Harn (?), Staffordshire, 
where he believes his 
father Joseph Buich had at 
that time a legal 
settlement. That when he 
was about 14 years of age 
he was put out an 
apprentice by indenture to 
William Green at Hope, 
Staffordshire (should be 
Derbyshire?), cordwainer, 
for the term of 7 years. 
That after he had served 
his said master about a 
year he ran away and left 
his apprenticeship, and 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
22 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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soon afterwards was hired 
by Adam Farnice (?) of 
Hathersage, farmer, to be 
his servant for 1 year, and 
duly served the same and 
continued 3 years longer in 
the service of the said 
Adam Farnice by the year. 
That soon afterwards he 
went to live with George 
Bennett at Padley Mill, 
Hathersage, miller, with 
whom he was hired for 1 
year and duly served the 
same and continued 3 
years longer with service of 
the servant by the year. 
That he was soon 
afterwards married and 
has ever since looked in 
various(?) places in the 
capacity of a labouring 
man and now resides at 
Baslow with Hannah his 
wife, and Easter and 
Hannah their children. 

Bunting, Ann Settlement 
Certificate 

Crich Foolow 2 Jul 
1731 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D7676/BagC/5
66/56 

Buntting, Robert Settlement 
Certificate List 

Crich Eyam 1717 ‘Cum multis aliis’ [with 
many others]. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
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D5430/21/1 

Burley, Joshua 
and his wife 
Sarah, and their 3 
children Sarah (8), 
George (6) and 
Edward (4½) 

Removal 
Order 

St Margaret’s 
Parish, City and 
Liberty of 
Westminster 
(Middlesex) 

Baslow and 
Bubnell 

4 Dec 
1827 

Suspended Order. 
Whereas it doth appear 
unto us the justices signing 
the within order that the 
within named Joshua 
Burley is unable to travel 
by reason of sickness and 
infirmity, we do therefore 
hereby suspend the 
execution thereof until the 
same can be done with 
safety to the said Joshua 
Burley. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/5/
26 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 7) 

Burrowes, William Settlement 
Certificate 

Wirksworth Bakewell 25 Jul 
1699 

Fellmonger. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/1 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Burrs (endorsed 
Bours), Joseph 
and wife Helen 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Bradwell Foolow 8 Apr 
1720 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D7676/BagC/5
66/64 

Burton, George Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  6 Jun 
1830 

Labourer. He is 31 years of 
age and was born at 
Winster of parents 
belonging there. When 
about his age of 11 years 
he was hired to William 
Jackson of Stonestead 
Grange (Derbyshire), 
farmer, for 51 weeks, 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/512 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 
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which he served and 
continued in the same 
service 2 other hirings for 
the same length of time. 
Then hired to Mary 
Johnston of Hulland Ward 
for 51 weeks and served 
the same and also another 
hiring for the same period. 
Then hired to Thomas 
Whysall of Brassington, 
farmer, for 51 weeks and 
served the same as well as 
another hiring for the like 
period. Then hired to 
Thomas Brown of the 
same place for the like 
period of 51 weeks and 
served the same and also 
2 other hirings for the 
same length of time. That 
since which time he has 
been employed as a 
labourer by the week. That 
he never was hired for a 
year, never bound 
apprentice, never rented a 
tenement of 10 pounds per 
annum or had ever any 
real estate. That he hath 3 
children born in lawful 
wedlock: Mary (6), George 
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(4) and John (2).  

Butterworth, 
Charles 

Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  8 Oct 
1739 

He was born at Dukinfield 
in the parish of Stockport 
in the county of Chester 
and his father had a 
settlement there. He never 
was hired nor bound 
apprentice nor ever rented 
any house or land to gain a 
settlement since he left his 
father at Dukinfield. He 
came into Winster about 3 
years since and rents a 
house at 1 pound a year.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/460 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 

Butterworth, 
Charles and his 
wife Mary and 
their children 
Thomas, John and 
Elizabeth 

Removal 
Order 

Winster Dukinfield, 
Stockport, 
(Cheshire) 

16 Jul 
1740 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/521 
and 528 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Buxton, Abraham 
and his wife 
Fanny 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Middleton 
(parish of 
Youlgreave) 

Winster 8 Apr 
1792 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/440 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Buxton, Ellen Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  29 Jul 
1801 

She is 23 years of age. 
She was born at 
Taddington, but believes 
that her father’s settlement 
was at Baslow. She lived 
at various places in Baslow 
till she was about 21 years 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
45 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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of age, where she was 
hired for a year with Mr 
John Winfield for the 
wages of 3 pounds 10 
shillings. She served the 
said year, and hired again 
for another year, but only 
served about 6 or 7 
months since which time 
hath done no act whereby 
to gain a settlement.  

Buxton, Jerimiah Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  19 May 
1786 

He was born at Aldwark 
where he believes his 
father Joseph Buxton had 
at that time a legal 
settlement. That when he 
was about 16 years of age 
his father made a verbal 
agreement with Thomas 
Wawain(?) of Elton, 
butcher, for the sum of 5 
guineas to teach him the 
trade of a butcher. That he 
generally went to Elton 
upon certain days in the 
week when his said master 
killed stock and always 
returned to his father at 
Aldwark at every week’s 
end. That he served in the 
manner according to the 
agreement for about 2 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/502 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 
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years when he returned to 
his father with whom he 
resided at Aldwark as part 
of his family for 5 or 6 
years, when he went to 
reside at Crich where he 
was married, and resided 
there about 12 months, 
during which time he did 
not do any act to gain him 
a settlement there. That he 
then went to live at Winster 
where he has resided to 
this time but hath done no 
act to that best of his 
knowledge to gain any 
settlement there. That 
Dorothy his wife and 
Joseph his son now reside 
with him at Winster.  

Buxton, John and 
his wife Mary 

Settlement 
Certificate  

Wirksworth Bakewell 19 Nov 
1722 

Cordwainer. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/3
9 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Buxton, John Removal 
Order 

Bakewell Winster 6 Mar 
1801 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/21 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 

Buxton, Robert  Settlement Woodland Eyam 1706  Derbyshire 
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Certificate List Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Cadman, Mary Removal 
Order 

Liversedge 
(West Riding of 
Yorkshire) 

Winster 31 Oct 
1824(?) 

Widow. 
(On reverse) Suspension 
Order: 
Mary Cadman is at present 
unable to travel by reason 
of sickness and great 
infirmity of body. We the 
said Justices do therefore, 
in pursuance of a statute in 
that behalf made and 
provided, hereby suspend 
the execution of the within 
order of removal, and you 
the Churchwardens and 
Overseers of the Poor of 
the township of Liversedge 
are hereby commanded to 
desist from conveying the 
within named Mary 
Cadman from and out of 
your said township of 
Liversedge to the within 
mentioned township of 
Winster until you shall 
make it appear unto us the 
said Justices, that the said 
Mary Cadman has 
recovered from her said 
illness, and may without 
danger be conveyed from 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/565 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 
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the said township of 
Liversedge to the said 
township of Winster as is 
within directed. Given 
under out hands this 31 
Oct 1824(?). 
 
Whereas it duly appears 
unto us that the above-
mentioned Mary Cadman 
is now dead. 
 
And we do also direct and 
require the Churchwardens 
and Overseers of the Poor 
of the said township of 
Winster to pay to the 
Churchwardens and 
Overseers of the Poor of 
the said township of 
Liversedge the sum of 10 
pounds and 6 pence being 
the charges proved upon 
oath before us to have 
incurred by the suspension 
of the within order. 16 April 
1825 and 23 Aug 1825. 

Cadman, Thomas Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  31 Oct 
1786 

Miner. He is by habit and 
repute the son of Anthony 
and Elizabeth Cadman of 
Winster, both of whom 
belonged to the said 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/501 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 
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parish, where the said 
Thomas Cadman was 
born, and brought up by 
his said parents till he was 
able to work. And further 
declares and deposes that 
he never served any one, 
nor has at any time farmed 
any land, house or houses, 
or paid any (?) or poor tax, 
or by any way, acquired 
any settlement in any other 
place but where he was 
born. And that he has all 
his lifetime been employed 
as a miner, and further 
deposes that Elizabeth 
Cadman, now in or near 
the parish of Conistone 
(Lancashire), is his lawful 
daughter, the place of his 
marriage with Sarah Park 
of the said parish of 
Conistone all this he 
declares to be true so help 
him God.  

Callton, Elizabeth Settlement 
Certificate  

Hallam Basley 
(Sheffield) 

Bakewell 5 Aug 
1717 

Spinster. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/3
4 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Calton, Joseph Settlement Nether Hallam Bakewell 25 Mar  Derbyshire 



84 

  

and his wife 
Elizabeth 

Certificate (West Riding of 
Yorkshire) 

1713 Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/2
5 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Calton, Jonas and 
his wife Elizabeth 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Hallam Nether 
(Yorkshire) 

Bakewell 3 May 
1715 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/3
1 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Carder, Nicholas Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  6 Aug 
1778 

He was born at Winster but 
believes his father’s 
settlement was than in the 
parish of Hartington. That 
when he was about 12 
years of age was hired as 
a servant for a year by 
Robert Searsley of the 
parish of Eckington and 
accordingly served him 
there that year and 17 
years afterwards at 
Eckington and since then 
hath not done any act 
whereby to gain himself a 
settlement to the best of 
his knowledge and belief.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/486 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 

Carr, Thomas and 
his wife Mary and 
their child Mary 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Laughton (West 
Riding of 
Yorkshire) 

Winster 15 Mar 
1756 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/396 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Carrington, Settlement Chapel-en-le- Bakewell 8 Dec  Derbyshire 
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Joseph and his 
wife Ruth 

Certificate Frith 1769 Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/7
7 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Carson, Elizabeth, 
wife of Luke 
Carson, and their 
children Dobrah, 
Sarah, Elizabeth 
and Jane 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Youlgreave Bakewell 20 Jan 
1786 

Luke Carson late of 
Youlgreave, mason. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057A/PO9/9
3 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Castle, Mary Settlement 
Certificate 

Elton Winster 11 Jan 
1713/171
4 

Widow. Joint settlement 
between Elton and Winster 
for 1 year, after which her 
settlement shall be at 
Elton.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/350 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Chalton, Elizabeth 
and Mary her 
daughter 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Ludworth Ashford 29 Jun 
1726 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO1/6 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Chapman, Mary Removal 
Order 

Oldham 
(Lancashire) 

Baslow 12 Jan 
1826 

Single-woman being poor 
and pregnant. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/5/
25 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 7) 

Chapman, 
Mathew 

Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  20 Jan 
1800 

Late of Darley Dale. He is 
25 years of age. That he 
was born at Stoney 
Middleton, but believes his 
father’s settlement was at 
Baslow. That he lived 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
25 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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along with his father at 
Stoney Middleton till he 
was about 19 years of age. 
That he then left his father 
and worked as a labourer 
in various places till he 
was 23 years of age. That 
he then married and hath 
done no act to the best of 
his knowledge to separate 
himself from the place of 
his father’s settlement. 

Chapman, 
Tim[othy] and wife 
and 2 children 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Ecclesall Foolow 9 Sep 
1713 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D7676/BagC/5
66/66 

Chapman, Mary Settlement 
Examination 

Hope  14 Dec 
1818 

Single-woman. Now 
residing in Hope. Moved 
with Mr Thomas Fox of 
Bradwell about 2 years 
ago as his servant for 1 
year at £5.10 wages. Lived 
there whole year. Not 
obtained any settlement 
since having lived only 11 
months with Mr Frost of 
Calver. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1038A/PO/12
2(d) 

Chapman, William Settlement 
Certificate List 

Baslow Eyam 1752  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Chapman, William Settlement 
Certificate List 

Bubnel Eyam 1752  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
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D5430/21/1 

Chapman, William Settlement 
Examination 

Hope  [c. 
1800?] 

Labourer, now of Hope. 
Born at Calver. Continued 
with parents at Calver until 
about 30 and afterwards 
worked on the turnpike 
roads in different places as 
labourer for several years. 
Then hires to Christopher 
Greaves. Then went to 
Bugsworth[?]…hired for 1 
year. Soon afterwards 
married and now resides at 
Hope. [Document partly 
obliterated. Date not 
visible]. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1038A/PO/12
2(a) 

Charlesworth, 
Dorothy 

Removal 
Order 

Bakewell  5 May 
1720 

Single-woman. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/1 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 

Cheetham, 
George  

Settlement 
Certificate 

Ashford Bakewell 4 Mar 
1709/171
0 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/1
8 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Clarke, William 
alias Robinson 
and his wife and 
one child 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Upper Haddon 
(in parish of 
Bakewell) 

Bakewell 5 Apr 
1711 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/2
2 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Clayton children Removal Thornhill Hope [early [Document largely Derbyshire 



88 

  

Order 18th 
cent?] 

obliterated. Date not 
visible]. 

Record Office: 
D1038A/PO/11
2(e) 

Clegg, Edmund Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  28 Apr 
1786 

Late of Tumbling Fount in 
the parish of Tongue 
(Lancashire). Joiner. He 
was born at Rochdale 
(Lancashire) where he 
believes his father had at 
that time a legal 
settlement. That when he 
was about 16 years of age 
he was put apprentice to 
James Stott of Rochdale, 
joiner, for 7 years. That he 
served his said master 
about 3 years. That then 
believing his indentures 
were bad he left his said 
master and his father and 
himself entered into a 
written agreement with 
George Greyham of Bolton 
(Lancashire), joiner and 
cabinet maker, to serve the 
said George Greyham for 
3 years at 1 shilling 6 
pence per week and his 
board for the 2 first years, 
2 shillings per week and 
his board for the third year. 
That he continued with his 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/500 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 
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said master for about 2 
years, when his father and 
he agreed that he should 
leave his said master upon 
payment of 1 guinea to the 
said George Greyham for 
to quit him from his 
agreement. The above-
said Edmund Clegg says 
he has done no act since 
the above to gain him a 
settlement. That he is now 
about 24 years of age and 
was married yesterday at 
Winster to Elizabeth Storer 
by whom he has lately had 
a female bastard child born 
at Winster.  

Cliffe, Job and his 
wife 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Darley Bakewell 23 Nov 
1713 

Labourer. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/2
6 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Cliffe, Thomas 
and his wife 
Hannah 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Bakewell Winster 5 Feb 
1727/172
8 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/357 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Cocker, Edmund Settlement 
Certificate List 

Wirksworth Eyam 1720  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Cocker, Hannah Settlement Baslow  7 Apr Single-woman. Born at Derbyshire 
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Examination 1766 Baslow at which place she 
believes her father was 
legally settled. That 
sometime about 30 Nov 
1762 her mother Hannah 
Cocker hired her daughter 
to Walter Froggatt of 
Calver for one year for 2 
pounds 5 shillings a year, 
and that she stayed with 
Walter Froggatt 10 months 
and 3 weeks at which time 
she was taken ill and went 
home to her mother at 
Baslow where she stayed 
9 nines. That then she 
returned to her said 
master’s and served him 
one week in order to make 
11 months for which she 
received 2 pounds. That 
she then hired herself to 
her master Walter Froggatt 
for 11 months more for 2 
pounds and served the 
said 11 months and 
received her said wages. 
She then left her said 
service and on the 5 Nov 
1764 she hired at 
Chesterfield Statutes for a 
year to John Barge of 

Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
7 (MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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Broom bank, Chesterfield 
for 2 pounds 5 shillings a 
year. She stayed with the 
said John Barge her 
master 12 weeks and 
received 11 shillings and 3 
pence for a quarters 
wages and then left his 
service and her said 
mother hired her to 
Samuel Watson of Baslow 
for 2 pounds 15 shillings a 
year. That she stayed with 
Mr Samuel Watson 12 
weeks and then she left Mr 
Watson and received 13 
shillings 9 pence for her 
wages and went to live 
with William White of 
Rowsley Barr to whom she 
hired herself for 12 months 
for 3 pounds a year and 
stayed with the said 
William White 3 quarters of 
a year and received 2 
pounds 2 shillings for her 
wages and saith she has 
done no other act or deed 
to gain her a settlement 
elsewhere.  

Cocker, Hannah Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  9 Apr 
1766 

Single-woman. Hath come 
to inhabit in the said 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
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Order/Complai
nt 

hamlet of Baslow not 
having gained any legal 
settlement therein, nor 
produced any certificate 
owning herself to be 
settled elsewhere, and that 
the said Hannah Cocker is 
likely to become 
chargeable to the said 
Hamlet of Baslow. These 
are therefore to require 
you to bring the said 
Hannah Cocker before me 
to be examined concerning 
the place of her last legal 
settlement. Hereof fail not. 

D2380/A/PO/3/
8 (MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 

Cocker, Hannah Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  15 Apr 
1766 

Single-woman. Born at 
Baslow where her father 
had a legal settlement. 
That when she was 18 
years of age she was hired 
for a year to Walter 
Froggatt, innkeeper, of 
Calver for 45 shillings 
wages. That when she had 
served the said Walter 
Froggatt at Calver 47 
weeks she was taken ill 
and went home to her 
mother at Baslow, and at 
the same time her mother 
received 21 shillings in part 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
9 (MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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of her wages. That she 
lived at Baslow with her 
mother 9 days and then 
returned to her said Master 
Walter Froggatt at Calver 
and when she had lived 
with him a week he told 
her she had then lived with 
him 11 months and she 
made answer and said she 
had not been her year, but 
he told her that signified 
nothing for he would pay 
her for the 11 months, and 
hire her again for 11 
months longer for 40 
shillings wages and at the 
same time told her she 
would then give him 
service 11 months. That 
she was hired accordingly 
and believed that her 
mother in a few days after 
received of her master 19 
shillings to make up the 40 
shillings for the 11 months 
service for her wages and 
that she lived with her 
master 11 months longer 
and received her longer 
from thence she went 
home to her mother at 
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Baslow and lived there part 
of a year and on the 5th 
November 1764 at 
Chesterfield Statutes she 
hired herself for a year to 
John Barge, farmer, of 
Broom bank in the parish 
of Chesterfield for 45 
shillings wages. Lived with 
him a quarter of a year and 
received a quarter wages 
then she returned to 
Baslow and was hired for a 
year to Mr Samuel Watson 
of Baslow for 55 shillings 
wages. Lived with him 
about a quarter of a year 
and received a 
proportionable part of her 
wages and then hired 
herself to William White, 
farmer, of Rowsley Barr for 
a year for 3 pounds wages. 
Served him 3 quarters of a 
year and received a 
proportionable part of her 
wages from thence she 
came to live with her 
mother at Baslow where 
she hath since inhabited 
and saith she hath not 
done no other act or thing 
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to gain a settlement in any 
other manner as above set 
forth.  

Cocker, John Settlement 
Examination 

 

 

Stoney 
Middleton 

 18 May 
1801 

Age 35. Born in Calver. 
Father’s settlement 
Bradfield (Yorkshire). Hired 
by Gardom Pears and 
Company at Calver Cotton 
Mill for 3 years at 8s a 
week. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D307/G/24 

Cocker, John Settlement 
Examination 

Beeley  12 Jul 
1813 

Age 21, born at Baslow 
(where father legally 
settled). At 15 apprenticed 
by his father to Jonathan 
Bright of Baslow to learn 
the business of 
Cordwainer to serve him 
until 21. Continued with 
Jonathan Bright for half a 
year when enlisted with 
Royal Horse Artillery where 
he served for 5 years until 
discharged due to wound 
received by being thrown 
from a horse. Lived with 
father Thomas Cocker of 
Baslow. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1191/A/PO/1 
(MICROFILM 
37 vol 13) 

Cocker, Sarah Removal 
Order 

Great Longstone Baslow 26 Jan 
1821 

  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/5/
20 
(MICROFILM 
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M598 vol 7) 

Cockin, William 
and Elizabeth his 
wife 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Great Longstone Ashford 18 Oct 
1737 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO1/11 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Cocking, Francis Removal 
Order 

Macclesfield Ashford 18 Mar 
1840 

With suspended order due 
to Francis Cocking being 
unable to travel due to 
illness and with later note 
that ‘he is dead’, 8 May 
1840. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO3/24
a and 25a (alt. 
ref. 
D747/A/PO/87a 
and 88a 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Cocking, Francis Settlement 
Examination 

Ashford  18 Mar 
1840 

Examination of Mary 
Cocking to determine 
Francis Cocking’s last 
place of legal settlement. 
The said Francis Cocking 
is my brother. His 
settlement is in Ashford, 
the settlement of my father 
Joseph Cocking who got it 
by apprenticeship. My said 
brother has received relief 
about 3 years ago whilst 
residing in Macclesfield. 
He has not gained any 
settlement in his own right 
and is too ill to be 
removed. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO3/24
b and 25b  
(alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/87b 
and 88b 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 
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Coker, Ezra Settlement 
Certificate List 

Stoney 
Middleton 

Eyam 1720  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Cooper, John Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  28 Aug 
1802 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

He is 35 years of age. He 
was born at Whittington. 
When he was 16 years of 
age his father bound him 
apprentice to John Cook of 
Whittington, carpenter, 
until he was 21 years of 
age. He served the said 
term. He worked as 
journeyman at divers 
places until the year 1791 
when he was hired by 
Benjamin Ashton of 
Baslow (under certificate 
from Darley) for a year at 
the wages of 24 shillings 
per month, with virtually, 
which year he served, after 
which he married, and hath 
worked as a journeyman 
as also for himself at divers 
places.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
47 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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Cooper, Judith, 
(now Harding?) 

Settlement 
Examination 

Bakewell  13 Jan 
1808 

Single-woman. Born in 
Bakewell, which she 
believes in her father’s 
settlement. When she was 
about 18 years old she 
went to live with Mr Logan 
of Buxton, in whose 
service she continued for 
about 3 months. 
Afterwards she lived by Mr 
Delile (?) who was a 
lieutenant in his Majesty’s 
65th Regiment of Foot. But 
then was resident at 
Manchester and a 
housekeeper there for a 
year for the wages of 6 
guineas, that she 
continued in the service of 
Mr Delile at Manchester for 
about 10 months, when 
finding the place too hard 
for her strength (?), for at 
first she had 2 maid-
servants there. She left the 
place and was hired by 
Mrs Grimshaw a widow 
lady there, but her health 
being bad she remained in 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/11
/19 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 
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her service not more than 
9 weeks. Since which time 
she has lived with her 
parents at Bakewell, and 
that this all she knows 
concerning her settlement.  

Cooper, Robert Case for 
Opinion on 
Settlement 

Little Hucklow  27 Sep 
1830 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D6280/3/2/3 

Cooper, Sarah Removal 
Order 

Bakewell Cheadle 
(Cheshire) 

19 Oct 
1832 

Single-woman. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/57 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 

Cooper, William 
Foster 

Settlement 
Examination 

Bakewell  7 Jul 
1837 

Labourer. Aged 46 as of 
last February. Born of 
parents legally settled in 
Bakewell. Resided with 
them in Bakewell until he 
was 15 years old, when he 
left his parents and went to 
Stockport to live with and 
did live with his brother-in-
law John Baston in 
Ridgeway Lane, Stockport, 
on a trial to learn to be a 
baker. About 12 months 
after that he was bound 
apprentice to his brother-
in-law John Baston until he 
was 21 years of age and 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/11
/33 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 
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that his brother-in-law John 
Baston received from the 
Churchwarden of Bakewell 
4 pounds as premium out 
of a charity fund. That the 
day after he was bound 
apprentice he left Bakewell 
to go with his brother-in-
law John Baston to 
Stockport and on their way 
there his brother-in-law 
was informed there was a 
lout (?) [illegible] out 
against him when they got 
to Bullock Smithy, and that 
they both returned back 
out of the County of 
Chester as far as Whaley 
Bridge when he left his 
brother-in-law and William 
Foster Cooper went to 
Stockport that instant. His 
brother-in-law was shortly 
afterwards sold up and he 
never returned again to 
Stockport. That this of 
accuinant(?) seen aimed at 
his brother-in-law’s House 
at Stockport 4 days but did 
nothing the House being 
all confused in 
consequence of his 
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brother-in-law being sold 
up. That he then went to 
Manchester and followed 
the business of a baker 
with John Dale then for his 
victuals only. That he then 
went back to Stockport and 
stayed about 2 years but 
cannot speak exactly as to 
time with John Wild of 
Merdesbank (?) these and 
who was a baker and the 
only allowance he received 
from John Wild was meat 
and clothes. That what 
became of his indentures 
he does not know he never 
saw it after it was signed(?) 
and that he believes his 
brother-in-law did not know 
upon what town he was 
leaving with John Wild. 
That he then came to 
Bakewell again and that he 
has not done any other act 
to gain himself a 
settlement that he knows 
of.  

Cottrill, Thomas 
and Ann his wife 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Snitterton (in 
parish of Darley) 

Foolow 14 Jan 
1755 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D7676/BagC/5
66/80 
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Cowley, George Settlement 
Examination 

Beeley  10 Mar 
1777 

Labourer. Born at Barlow, 
but father’s settlement at 
Brampton. At 15, hired to 
Elizabeth White in Beeley, 
widow, for 1 year for 
wages of £4 4s. Now rents 
farm at Beeley of £5 a 
year. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1191/A/PO/1 
(MICROFILM 
37 vol 13) 

Cowper, Joseph 
and his wife Ruth 

Settlement 
Certificate  

Eyam Bakewell Jul 1704  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/4 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Crichlow, Robert 
and his wife Ann 
and their children 
Elizabeth, 
Rosamond, Lydia, 
Robert, George, 
Francis and Ann 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Monyash Bakewell 10 Jan 
1766 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/7
4 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Critchlow, Robert 
and Ann his wife 
and children 
Elizabeth, 
Rossamond and 
Lyddy 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Monyash Ashford 9 Jul 
1756 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO1/21 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Critchlow, Sarah 
and her children 
George (crossed 
out), John, 
Thomas, Ann and 
Mary 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Rowland Bakewell 16 Dec 
1785 

Widow. (On reverse) 
Memorandum: George 
Critchlow one of the 
children mentioned in this 
certificate was crossed out 
after it was signed by 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057A/PO9/8
9 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 
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Seaxon(?) the overseer of 
the Poor of Rowland. Said 
he was an apprentice to Mr 
James Longstone of 
Longstone and had served 
forty days under a legal 
Indenture, 16 Sep 1785. 

 
 

Crofts, William 
and Watson, 
Charles 

Settlement 
Case and 
Opinion 

Baslow  1810  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/4 

Crook, Samuel 
and his wife Mary, 
and their children 
Grace (3) and 
George (2) 

Removal 
Order 

Dore Baslow 16 May 
1776 

  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/5/
7 (MICROFILM 
M598 vol 7) 

Crooks, Sarah Removal 
Order 

Sheffield Baslow 24 Feb 
1829 

Single-woman is in 
consequence of 
pregnancy. (On reverse) 
living at Mrs Wilkinson’s, 
Howard Street. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/5/
28 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 7) 

Crowder, George 
and his family 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Bakewell Ashford 4 Jan 
1762 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO1/22 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Crowder, 
Margaret 

Removal 
Order 

Matlock Bakewell 16 Jul 
1827 

Single-woman and 
pregnant. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/46 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 
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Crowder, William Removal 
Order 

 

Matlock Bakewell 3 Jun 
1837 

William Crowder the 
younger, a pauper. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/65 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 

Crowder, William Settlement 
Examination 

Matlock Bank, 
Matlock, 

 3 Jun 
1837 

William Crowder is 
upwards of 77 years of age 
and was born at Ashford in 
the Water, of parents 
George and Hannah 
Crowder whose place of 
settlement was at 
Bakewell. His father was a 
certificated man from 
Bakewell to Ashford. He 
lived with his parents at 
Ashford until he was about 
2 or 3 years old, when his 
grandfather (his mother’s 
father) Martin Middleton of 
Abney took him in for the 
purpose of bringing him up 
and he lived with him until 
he was about 14 years of 
age, when he died. His 
grandfather was a miner 
and had a small farm and 
he went to the mine and 
did any jobs that his 
grandfather had for him to 
do. His grandfather found 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/66 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 
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him meat and clothes. He 
was never hired to his 
grandfather. After his 
grandfather died he 
continued to live at the 
same house with his uncle, 
John Middleton, who had 
part of the farm. He worked 
for his uncle in the same 
way as he had done for his 
grandfather until he was 
about 18 years old, when 
he left him, and my mother 
(his father being then 
dead) bound him in 
apprentice to my uncle 
Joseph Crowder of 
Ashford for 4 years to learn 
the trade of a framework-
knitter, there was no 
premium paid. My uncle 
Joseph Crowder was to 
find him everything. He 
stayed with his uncle at 
Ashford under the 
Indentures about 12 
months and was then 
turned over to William 
Skidmore also of Ashford 
with whom he served the 
remainder of the time. He 
then worked as a 
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journeyman between 2 and 
3 years and married first 
wife Martha Blackwell of 
Ashford. After the marriage 
with his first wife, he lived 
at Ashford and afterwards 
at Chesterfield and came 
to Matlock about 17 years 
ago. He has worked at his 
trade all the time. He was 
never hired by his uncle at 
Abney nor to any other 
person. He has never 
rented a tenement of the 
value of 10 pounds a year 
nor done any act, except 
as above stated, whereby 
to gain a settlement.  
 
His first wife died upwards 
of 40 years ago and 3 or 4 
years afterwards he 
married Elizabeth Gerrison 
of the parish of Barlow who 
is now living and by whom 
he had 8 children, 5 of 
whom are now living. One 
of these children is William 
aged about 37 years and 
who is now living with him 
at Matlock.  
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About 8 years ago his 
daughter Margaret (by his 
second wife) was removed 
by an Order of Justice from 
Matlock to Bakewell. His 
daughter stayed at 
Bakewell about a quarter 
of a year and he believed 
during that time she 
received relief from the 
Overseer of that place. 
The Order of Removal was 
not appealed against by 
Bakewell. 
 
He has frequently received 
relief from Bakewell during 
the time he has resided at 
Matlock, and about a 
fortnight since my wife 
went to Bakewell and the 
Overseer gave her 10 
shillings for him. 
 
Voluntary Examination of 
William Crowder the 
younger, framework-knitter 
of Matlock Bank, Matlock, 
Derbyshire. He is about 37 
years of age and was born 
at Chesterfield, Derbyshire 
of parents William and 
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Elizabeth Crowder whose 
place of settlement is at 
Bakewell, Derbyshire. He 
lived with his parents at 
Chesterfield until he was 
nearly 20 years of age. He 
learnt his trade of a 
framework-knitter with his 
father. He was not 
apprenticed to him or 
anyone else. He has never 
been hired to any person. 
He worked at several 
places at my trade as a 
journeyman since he left 
his parents, as above 
stated, until about 2 years 
ago when he came to live 
with his father at Matlock 
and with whom he now 
resides. About 14 years 
ago he intermarried with 
Mary Dexter at 
Sheepshead in 
Leicestershire. He has not 
had any children by his 
said wife. About 3 years 
ago he wife left him and 
went to live with another 
man at Belper with whom 
she now resides. 
He has not paid more that 
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£2.10.0 a year rent, nor 
has he, to his knowledge, 
done any act other than as 
above stated to gain a 
settlement. 

Cundy, Mary and 
her daughter Ann 

Removal 
Order 

Bakewell Sheffield 18 Jan 
1826 

Wife of Theophilus Cundy Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/43 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 

Cundy, Zacharias 
and his wife and 
children 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Bannary of 
Longnor (in 
parish of 
Alstonefield, 
Staffordshire) 

Bakewell 23 Apr 
1731 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/4
9 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Daffin, Thomas Settlement 
Examination 

Beeley  8 Jan 
1796 

Weaver. Age 30, born in 
Youlgreave (where father 
had legal settlement). 
Worked as journeyman 
weaver at different places 
until 26 when married and 
went to reside at Stanton 
where he stayed 2 years. 
Then went to reside at 
Youlgreave and stayed 
there 1 year upwards when 
went to reside at Beeley. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1191/A/PO/1 
(MICROFILM 
37 vol 13) 

Dakin, Hannah 
and her daughter 
Helen (30) 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Elton Bakewell 3 Sep 
1792 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057A/PO9/9
9 (MICROFILM 
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32 vol 3) 

Dakin, Samuel 
and his wife 
Elizabeth and his 
family  

Settlement 
Certificate  

Dronfield Bakewell 19 May 
1736 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/5
3 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Dakin, Thomas 
and Sarah his wife 

Removal 
Order 

Thorp Ashford 30 Dec 
1780 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO3/7 
(alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/69) 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Dakin, Thomas 
and his wife Jane 
and their children 
Thomas and 
Samuel 

Settlement 
Certificate  

Elton (in parish 
of Youlgreave) 

Bakewell 13 Aug 
1785 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/8
4 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Dakin, Thomas Settlement 
Examination 

Ashford  1 Jan 
1789 

Late of Thorpe 
(Derbyshire). Lived with his 
parents at Little Hucklow till 
age 10 after which time he 
was hired to John 
Blackwell of Ashford for 3 
years which time he served 
and received wages for the 
last year. Then went and 
lived 12 months with his 
uncle. Stayed the year and 
received his wages. Then 
was hired to Mr Green of 
Ashford for a year which 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO2/20 
(alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/53) 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 
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time he served and duly 
received wage of 4 
guineas.  

Davies, Thomas Settlement 
Certificate List 

Darley Eyam 1753  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Dawson, Ann Settlement 
Certificate 

Tideswell Winster 15 Nov 
1768 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/417 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Dawson, Dorothy 
and her children 
Hannah, Amy, 
Mary, Jane, 
Elizabeth and 
Ann, and the child 
or children with 
which she is now 
pregnant, and 
which is likely to 
be born a bastard 
or bastards 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Biggin and 
Heathcote 

Bakewell 7 Oct 
1785 

Widow and pregnant. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057A/PO9/8
7 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Dawson, Hannah 
together with the 
child or children 
with which she is 
now pregnant and 
likely to be born a 
bastard or 
bastards 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Biggin (in the 
nether quarter of 
the parish of 
Hartington) 

Bakewell 18 Aug 
1788 

Pregnant. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057A/PO9/9
6 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Dean(?), Ellin Settlement Winster  3 Jul Single-woman. She is now Derbyshire 
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Examination 1730 big with child and that in 
February last Jonathan 
Hall of Winster, miner, lay 
with her in her mother’s 
house in Winster and had 
carnal knowledge of her 
body and did then beget 
her with child whereof she 
is now pregnant and that 
the said Jonathan Hall is 
the only and true father of 
the said child she having 
had to do with no other 
person. 

Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/449 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 

Devenport, 
Joshua 

Settlement 
Examination 

Harwood (in 
hamlet of Beeley 
in parish of 
Bakewell) 

 10 Mar 
1777 

Smilter(?). Born at 
Brampton. At 18, hired to 
Nathaniel Woodhouse of 
Pilsley in parish of 
Edensor, farmer, to do 
business of husbandry for 
1 year for wages of £4, 
meat, drink, washing and 
lodging. Afterwards served 
for a second year for 
wages £5 and then hired 
himself to Robert Briggs of 
Walton in parish of 
Chesterfield, farmer, for 
wages of £6 10s and bed 
and board and served for 1 
year. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1191/A/PO/1 
(MICROFILM 
37 vol 13) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Dickens, William Settlement Ashford  27 Mar Labourer. Born at Derbyshire 
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Examination 1770 Woodhead (in the liberty of 
Tadington) where he 
occupied a farm for 1 year 
of the rent £30 and where 
his father had legal 
settlement. From there 
went to live at Sheldon 
upon an estate of his own 
which descended to him as 
heir at law to his brother on 
which estate he resided 
and occupied 3 years. He 
was assessed and paid  
 rates and then sold the 
estate for £182. Received 
£34 of the said some the 
rest being allowed for 
legacies and his mother’s 
annuity to which the estate 
was charged with.  

Record Office: 
D747/A/PO2/7 
(alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/40) 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Dodds, Thomas 
and his wife and 
two children, 
Joseph and Mary 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Chapel-en-le-
Frith 

Bakewell 21 Sep 
1723 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/4
0 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Doncaster, 
Elizabeth 

Removal 
Order 

Winster Aldwark 
Grange 

8 Dec 
1780 

Single-woman. (On 
reverse) 
Elizabeth Doncaster was 
removed to Aldwark 
Grange on 30 Dec 1780 by 
the verity of this Order of 
Removal by William 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/555 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 
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Hodgkinson Overseer of 
the Poor of Winster. 

Doncaster, 
Elizabeth 

Settlement 
Examination  

Winster  27 Dec 
1780 

Single-woman. She was 
born at Winster where he 
mother Martha Doncaster 
lived. That when she was 
about 13 years of age she 
was put out a parish 
apprentice by the 
Overseers of the Poor of 
Winster to John Caldwall 
then of Winster, butcher. 
That she served the said 
John Caldwall at Winster 
for about 10 months when 
he removed with her said 
master to Aldwark Grange 
where her master had 
taken a farm. That she has 
continued at Aldwark with 
her said master and his 
family for 18 months and 
that she has done no act 
except as aforesaid 
whereby to gain a 
settlement. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/490 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 

Downs, 
Christopher [and 
Hill, Adam] 

Justices Order 
for Settlement 
Examination 

Hope  27 Mar 
1766 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1038/A/PO/11
4 

Drabble, John Settlement 
Certificate List 

Foolow Eyam 1746  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
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D5430/21/1 

Drable, Joseph Settlement 
Certificate List 

Foolow Eyam 1752  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Drable, William 
and his wife 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Rowsley Ashford 8 Jan 
1699/170
0 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO1/1 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Eades, Hannah Removal 
Order 

Hope Castleton 3 Feb 
1800 

[Document largely 
obliterated]. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1038A/PO/11
0 

Eeds, John Settlement 
Certificate List 

Hathersage Eyam 1739  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Elliot, William Settlement 
Examination 

Beeley  8 Jan 
1796 

Victualler.  Age 22, born at 
Rowsley (where father had 
legal settlement). At 16 
hired by George Bailey of 
Rowsley for one year at 
£5. At 21 married and went 
to reside at Beeley. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1191/A/PO/1 
(MICROFILM 
37 vol 13) 

Elliott, Elizabeth Removal 
Order 

Bowden Chapel Hope [early 
18th cent] 

Single-woman. [Document 
largely obliterated. Date 
not visible]. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1038A/PO/11
2(f) 

Elliott, Joseph and 
his wife and family 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Bamford (in 
parish of 
Hathersage) 

Bakewell 11 Nov 
1714 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/2
9 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 
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Ellis, Edward Settlement 
Examination 

Bakewell  7 Nov 
1828 

Miller. Aged 36. Born in the 
township of Glyncaraik(?), 
County Denbigh. When he 
was about 13 years old he 
hired himself to Isaac 
Hughs of Park Mills in the 
Parish of Maysbury 
(Shropshire), miller, for 12 
months at the wages of 2 
pounds. That he went into 
such service but left before 
the expiration of the year 
and did not receive a full 
year’s wages. That about 
14 years ago he hired 
himself to commence at 
May Day to Edward Hughs 
of Riscut Mill in St Martin’s 
Parish in the County of 
Denbigh. Miller for 1 year 
to commence at Lady Day 
at the wages of 7 guineas 
that he served 1 year 
under such hiring and 
received a full year’s 
wages and previous to the 
expiration of such year he 
hired himself again to the 
said Edward Hughs for 
another year for the same 
wages and a new pair of 
shoes, and that continued 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/11
/29 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 
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in such service under the 
second hiring until about 
Christmas when he left 
and received wages up to 
the time of his leaving. 
That after leaving the 
service of Mr Hughs he 
went into Herefordshire 
and engaged himself for 1 
month on trial to Evan 
Birrough of New Mills in 
the Parish of Eaton Bishop 
(Herefordshire), miller at 
the rate of six shillings a 
week and his board and 
lodging that at the end of 
such month of trial his 
master Evan Birrough 
asked him if he had any 
objection to continue on 
with him and on his 
answering that he had not, 
his master said you may 
go on with your work, and 
he continued to serve the 
said Evan Birrough without 
any other hiring 3 years 
when he left for about a 
month and returned to his 
said service without any 
further hiring for nearly 2 
years. That he received his 
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wages at different times 
and in different sums 
whenever he had an 
occasion for money always 
reckoning the wages by 
the week and that after 
leaving the service of Evan 
Birrough he never hired 
himself for a year or served 
a year without any one 
master so did any other act 
whereby to gain a 
settlement. That in January 
last he married in the 
Parish Church of Bakewell 
Mary Taylor by whom he 
had 1 child born before 
marriage and that he and 
his family are residing in 
Bakewell.  
 
(On reverse) That about 6 
or 7 years ago he hired 
with John Hagues of 
Hedgebaston Mill, 
Township of Hedgebaston 
for 5 shillings (?) a week 
for 12 months. His Master 
saying I will give you 5 
shillings a week from now 
till this time 12 months, that 
he stayed 12 months, did 
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receive money on account 
from time to time but not 
regularly every week. He 
lodged in his Master’s 
house at that time at 
Hedgebaston. His time 
was over in May and he 
agreed to go on again for 6 
shillings a week each party 
to be at liberty on giving a 
month’s warning – and 
during the time he lived 
with John Haynes each 
party was to be at liberty 
on giving a month’s 
warning. That the second 
time he hired with John 
Haynes was in pay (?) and 
that he stayed under the 
agreement with his said 
master until March 
following having previously 
given his said Master a 
month’s warning to leave 
upon which they parted.  

Elot, Godfrey and 
Sus[annah] his 
wife and daughter 
Ann 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Abney Foolow 23 Dec 
1755 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D7676/BagC/5
66/55 

Else, Thomas and 
his wife Mary and 
their son John 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Wirksworth Winster 18 Jan 
1747/174
8 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/389 
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(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Evans, George 
and his wife Anne 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Winster North 
Collingham 
(Nottinghamshir
e)  

1 Jul 
1740 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/377 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Evans, George Settlement 
Examination 

Bakewell  10 Nov 
1798 

Aged 42. Born at Winster 
where he believes his 
father at legal settlement. 
Worked as a labourer in 
various places till he was 
about 21 years old. He 
then married and lived at 
Bakewell till Lady Day 
1796. Then rented land 
from John Smith, joiner, for 
the rent of 8 pounds, 10 
shillings a year. The he 
rented a house from 
William Redfern for 2 
pounds, 10 shillings and a 
cowhouse from George 
Holme for 1 pound. He 
occupied the land, house 
and cowhouse for a year. 
He has not gained 
settlement elsewhere.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/11
/12 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Evans, Ralph and 
his wife Jane and 
his 3 children 
Jacob, Joseph 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Rowsley Winster 5 Jan 
1756 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/397 
(MICROFILM 
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and Ann 391 vol 5) 

Evans, Robert and 
his wife Ann and 
their children 
Ralph, Sarah and 
Anabell 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Rowsley Winster 6 May 
1735 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/370 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Eyley, George and 
his wife Mary and 
three children 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Great Rowsley Bakewell 6 Aug 
1722 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/3
8 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Eyre, Ben and 
Sarah his wife and 
child Mary 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Beard Ollersett, 
Whittle and 
Thornsett 

Foolow 12 Jun 
1750 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D7676/BagC/5
66/76 

Eyre, Joseph Settlement 
Certificate 

Winster  26 Jun 
1759 

He was born at Hope 
where he lived until the 
age of 12 or 13 when he 
went to Crookhill in the 
hamlet of Woodlands in 
the parish of Hope where 
he lived as a hired servant 
with John Eyre for 3 years 
and received his wages for 
that time. And then 
removed from there and 
went to Joseph Eyre of 
Ashap(?) in the hamlet of 
Woodlands where he hired 
himself for a year. Served 
that year and received 
wages for it and continued 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/466 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 
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with Joseph Eyre at 
Ashap(?) about 6 months 
longer  and then left him 
and came to Castleton and 
hired himself there with 
one Mr Isaac Hall of that 
place by the year and 
served him about 7 years 
and received wages for it, 
during which service he 
married Mary his now wife 
and went with her when he 
left the said Isaac Hall to 
Hope where he rented a 
farm of £15 a year and 
continued upon it for 10 
years and upwards and 
removed from thence to 
Taxal where he took a 
farm of £22 a year of one 
Michael Heathcote Esquire 
and continued upon the 
said farm at Taxal about 3 
years. Then came back to 
Castleton where he 
purchased a freehold 
house (where he now 
lived) for £15. Has paid all 
taxes for the same but 
never was rated in his own 
name and this examinant 
further saith that about 2 
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years ago his late father 
Joseph Eyre gave him 2 
closes of land in Hope 
verbally, of about 40 
shillings a year for which 
he has paid taxes during 
the time and at his death 
which happened about 3 
months ago left it him by 
will in writing. He has had 
13 children by his wife, 6 of 
whom are dead and 7 now 
living namely John, 
Benjamin and Thomas 
who are all bound 
apprentice by indenture 
and Milasaint [Millicent?] 
(6), Mary (8), Ruth (10) 
and Elizabeth (15) which 
now live with him. That he 
has done no other act to 
gain a settlement to the 
best of his knowledge in 
any place except as how in 
before set forth.   

Eyre, Sam Settlement 
Certificate 

Bowden, Middle 
Cale 

Foolow 30 Jun 
1710 

Papermaker Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D7676/BagC/5
66/68 

Fantom, John and 
his wife Elizabeth 
and their 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Hogniston 
(parish of 
Wirksworth) 

Winster 1 Mar 
1752/175
3 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/393 
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daughters Grace, 
Elizabeth, Hannah 
and Mary 

(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Fantom, William Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  6 Aug 
1778 

He was born at Stanton in 
the parish of Youlgreave 
where his father was 
legally settled and saith 
that he hath not done any 
act since his birth whereby 
to gain himself a 
settlement to the best of 
his knowledge and belief.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/483 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 

Fantom, William 
and his wife Mary 
and their child 
Selina aged about 
2 months 

Removal 
Order 

Crich Bakewell 7 Nov 
1820 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/35 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 

Farist, John and 
Sarah his wife 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Worksop 
(Nottinghamshir
e) 

Beeley 14 May 
1784 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1191/A/PO/1 
(MICROFILM 
37 vol 13) 

Fearn, Anthony 
and his wife 
Martha and their 3 
children John, 
Anthony and 
Mary, the oldest of 
which not more 
than 7 years old 

Removal 
Order 

Winster Callow 18 Feb 
1771 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/550 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Fearne, Eliza and Removal Mansfield Baslow 29 Apr Eliza Fearne the wife of Derbyshire 
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her 2 children, 
Charles (3) and 
Thomas (1) 

Order (Nottinghamshir
e) 

1830 Thomas Fearne, who is 
now absent and apart from 
her, and her two children 
by the said Thomas 
Fearne (namely) Charles 
(3) and Thomas (1). (On 
reverse) Her husband, 
Thomas Fearne, is now 
confined in Southwell 
House of Correction which 
was the cause of his wife’s 
removal. 

Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/5/
29 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 7) 

Fearn, John and 
his wife Frances 
and their daughter 
Hannah 

Settlement 
Certificate  

Kniveton Winster 11 Jul 
1772 

Tailor.  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/429 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Fern, Robert Settlement 
Certificate List 

Foolow Eyam 1741  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Fletcher, Ann Settlement 
Certificate 

Baslow Bakewell 3 May 
1788 

Widow. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057A/PO9/9
5 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Fletcher, Henry Settlement 
Certificate List 

Stoney 
Middleton 

Eyam 1722  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Fletcher, Henry Settlement 
Certificate List 

Stoney 
Middleton 

Eyam 1760  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Fletcher, John and Settlement Derby (St Bakewell 3 Feb  Derbyshire 
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his wife Elizabeth 
and their son 
James, a child 

Certificate Werburgh’s 
Parish) 

1728/172
9 

Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/4
5 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Fogg, Daniel and 
his wife Dorothy 
and their daughter 
Elizabeth 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Bakewell Winster 3 Jan 
1758 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/407 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Fogg, James Settlement 
Examination 

Nottingham (St 
Mary’s Parish) 

Bakewell Apr 1823 Petition of James Fogg. 
Born in Bakewell. When he 
was young certificated to 
Derby together with his 
parents by the then 
Overseers of Bakewell, to 
which Parish he now 
belongs, having since his 
birth legally obtained a 
settlement elsewhere. He 
has principally been in the 
employment of William and 
John Elliot Esquires, and in 
that of Mr John Mills of 
Nottingham. Fogg is now 
in his 77th year and 
consequently incapable of 
performing those services, 
by which he might maintain 
himself and an infirm wife, 
also far advanced in years.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/11
/24 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Fogg, James Settlement 
Examination 

Bakewell  2 Jun 
1823 

Now residing in Sheep 
Lane, Parish of St. Mary in 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
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Nottingham. Silk throwster. 
Aged 76. His father was 
George Fogg who was a 
tailor who died when 
James was 10 or 12 years 
old at Saint Werburgh 
Parish in Derby. Derived 
his settlement as Bakewell 
by birth. Soon after the 
death of his father, his 
mother who was left with 
James and two other 
children, both younger 
than James; George was 
several years younger than 
James and Mary was 2 or 
3 years younger than 
George. Went to Bakewell 
to procure relief from that 
Parish to assist in her in 
bringing up her children, 
and she was on that 
occasion relieved with a 
Guinea and for several 
years after she had weekly 
relief from the Overseers of 
St Werburgh, who has 
since been told were 
repaid by the Overseers of 
Bakewell. James was told 
about a week ago by Mr 
Bailey the Overseer or 

D2057/A/PO/11
/25 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 
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Assistant Overseer of St 
Alkmund’s Parish in Derby 
that there was a Certificate 
then in his case. Mother 
died and was buried in All 
Saints Parish in Derby 
upwards of 30 years since 
and then belonged to 
Bakewell. That he has not 
since his birth done any at 
whatever by servitude, 
apprenticeship, renting a 
tenement of £10 a year on 
an estate to gain a 
settlement. That about 50 
years since he was 
married at All Saints 
Church in Derby to Mary 
Needham, single-woman, 
his present wife by whom 
he has three children all 
living. John aged about 28 
years who is a Fwk (?), 
and lives in Parliament 
Street adjoining Woodland 
Place, Ann aged about 26 
years who lives with James 
and is the wife of Luke 
Thrope, cotton spinner, 
and Mary aged about 23 
years who is 
unemancipated and lives 
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with James. James is 
unable from infirmity to 
support himself and wife 
by labour and he has no 
other means of support.  
 
10th June sent 2 pounds. 

Ford, James 
and…Mary, his 
children 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Chapel-en-le-
Frith 

Hope No date 
[c. 
1760s] 

[Document partially 
obliterated] 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1038A/PO/10
0(I) 

Fox, James Settlement 
Certificate List 

Sheffield Eyam 1712  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Fox, Jonas Settlement 
Certificate List 

Bamford Eyam 1741  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Fox, William Settlement 
Certificate List 

Sheffield Eyam 1748  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Foxlove, Anthony Settlement 
Certificate 

Taddington Winster 20 Dec 
1700 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/346 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Foxlow, John Removal 
Order 

Winster  Matlock 18 May 
1769 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/541 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Frickney, John 
and Ann his wife 

Removal 
Order 

Foolow Barlow 27 Apr 
1787 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
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D7676/BagC/5
66/10 

Frodsham, Randle 
and his sons Job 
and Randle 

Removal 
Order 

Bakewell Hamlet of 
Liberty in town 
of Fish Lake 
[Fishlake] in 
West Riding, 
Yorkshire 

24 Mar 
1774 

Job Froshaw between 7 
and 8 years of age and 
Randle Frodsham about 4 
years of age. Sons of 
Randle Frodsham.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/15-16 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 

Froggatt, Edward Settlement 
Certificate List 

Baslow Eyam 1746  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Froggatt, Jason Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  26 Apr 
1800 

He is about 28 years of 
age, and was born in the 
township of Baslow, in the 
Hundred of High Peak, 
where his father had a 
legal settlement. That at 
age 16 years he was 
bound apprentice to John 
Strutt of Edensor, buckle 
maker, for 5 years, which 
said term of 5 years he 
served his said master, 
excepting the last 7 
months commencing the 6 

Jan 1792, the first of which 
7 months having some 
words with his said master. 
He told him he might go 
about his business, where 
he pleased. He accordingly 
went and stayed with his 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
35 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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father at Baslow, about a 
month, and then went to 
work at Mansfield where 
he continued to work until 
the 7th August at which 
time he came of age of 21 
years, and that the Easter 
before the said 7th of 
August, he came over to 
Edensor and made an 
agreement with his said 
master for the remaining 
part of his term (that is 
from the 6th of January to 
the 7th of august, the day 
he came of age) for the 
sum of 10 guineas, 3 
guineas of which was paid 
at Easter Monday, and the 
remainder before 
Christmas following when 
his indenture was given up 
to him.  

Froggatt, Thomas 
(Senior) 

Settlement 
Certificate List 

Baslow Eyam 1742  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Froggatt, Thomas 
(Junior) 

Settlement 
Certificate List 

Baslow Eyam 1752  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Frogget, Thomas 
and Mary his wife 
and daughter 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Stoney 
Middleton 

Foolow 15 Apr 
1737 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D7676/BagC/5
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Grace 66/53 

Frost, Isaac and 
his wife Elizabeth 
and James his 
son and Isaac his 
son 

Removal 
Order 

Snitterton and 
Wensley 

Bakewell 10 Jul 
1732 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/9 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 

Frost, Jonathan Settlement 
Certificate List 

Grindlow Eyam 1747  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Frost, Joshua and 
his wife 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Sheldon Bakewell 20 Apr 
1710 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/2
0 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Fryer, Henry Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  6 Aug 
1778 

He was born at Winster 
where his father was 
legally settled. That when 
he was about 12 years of 
age was bound apprentice 
by indenture to Thomas 
Prime of Birchover, 
cordwainer, for 7 years 
and served him there all 
that term. And that he hath 
heard say and believes 
that when he was bound 
apprentice his said master 
resided at Birchover by 
virtue of a certificate 
obtained from the township 
of Wirksworth. That near 
half a year before he this 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/487 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 
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examinant was out of his 
apprenticeship his master 
rented a tenement 
upwards of 10 pounds a 
year whilst he resided at 
Birchover and since then 
hath not done any act 
whereby to gain himself a 
settlement to the best of 
his knowledge and belief.  

Fryer, Thomas Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  May 
1758 

He was born at Thornton 
(Leicestershire) where his 
father Jonathan Fryer was 
settled. That his father 
upwards of 20 years ago 
came to Matlock and rent a 
farm there for upwards of 3 
years at the yearly rent of 
10 pounds and upwards. 
That after that his father 
removed to Elton and 
rented a farm there for 
several years of upwards 
of 40 pounds a year and 
that he died upon that farm 
upwards of 20 years ago 
and he believes his father 
gained a settlement at 
Elton by renting of the 
farm. That he this 
examinant is either 28 or 
29 years old next August. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/468 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 
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That in the year 1746 he 
was bound apprentice by 
indenture to one Anthony 
Cooper of Winster, baker, 
for 7 years and that he 
severed the said Cooper at 
Winster under the 
indenture upwards of 1 
year and then the said 
Cooper removed from 
Winster and left this 
examinant there where he 
followed the said trade of a 
baker under the said 
Cooper for about [illegible] 
when his master delivered 
him of his indenture but 
took [illegible] to himself 
when his master (?) 
agreed. Cooper he 
believes had no settlement 
in Winster nor hath 
believed these are an 
inhabitant at any time 
since he left, to the best of 
his deponent’s knowledge 
or belief. He was married 
to Jane his wife about 9 
years ago. That he hath 
John (7), Ann (4), Henry 
(11 months), children by 
his wife. And he hath not to 
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his knowledge or belief 
done any other act to gain 
any settlement. 

Furness, Hannah Removal 
Order 

Manchester Ashford 10 Feb 
1791 

Single-woman Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO3/10 
(alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/73) 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Furness, Mark Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  6 Apr 
1800 

He is about 42 years of 
age. That he was born at 
Great Longstone, where 
his father had a legal 
settlement. That when he 
was about 13 years of age 
he was bound by 
apprentice to John 
Hawkins who at that time 
keep the Toll Gate House 
at Calver Bridge, for 6 
years, saddler. That he 
served his master at 
Calver Bridge for about 2 
years. That then he went 
to live at Baslow where he 
resided with his master at 
Baslow for upwards of a 
year. That then the Parish 
Officers of Baslow obliged 
his master to bring a 
certificate from Eyam, the 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
26 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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place of his settlement. 
That he resided with his at 
Baslow till the time of his 
master’s death which 
happened when he had 
served about 4 years and 
a half. That he continued 
to live with his master for 
about 3 quarters of a year, 
that then he bought the 
goods and working tool 
from his mistress who had 
given him his indenture 
before, and that he then 
begun business for himself 
and hath continued to 
reside in Baslow ever 
since and hath not to the 
best of his knowledge 
done any act to gain a 
settlement otherwise then 
as above. 

Furniss, Elizabeth 
and her children 
William, John, 
Elizabeth, Mary 
and Thomas 

Removal 
Order 

Ashford Baslow 18 Jan 
1798 

Widow Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/5/
10 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 7) 

Furniss, Martha 
and her children 
William (4) and 
Hannah (9 

Removal 
Order 

Dukinfield 
(Cheshire) 

Baslow 25 Feb 
1835 

Widow Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/5/
31 
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months) (MICROFILM 
M598 vol 7) 

Furnley, John Settlement 
Certificate List 

Woodland Eyam 1715  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Gamble, Samuel Settlement 
Certificate 

Stanton Winster 16 Mar 
1698/169
9 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/343 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Gamble, William Removal 
Order 

Winster Shrewsbury (St 
Chad’s Parish) 
(Shropshire)  

17 Jan 
1771 

William Gamble 7 years 
old and upwards, son of 
Hannah Gamble and born 
a bastard in the said parish 
of Saint Chad. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/546 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Galligan, George Removal 
Order and 
Settlement 
Examination 

Macclesfield 
(Cheshire) 

Ashford 11 Feb 
1835 

Examination of Margaret 
Bolton, wife of James 
Bolton, relating to 
settlement of George 
Galligan. George Galligan 
was son of Peter and Ellen 
Galligan. Age 11. Born in 
Macclesfield. Peter and 
Ellen were married at 
Prestbury about 12 years 
ago. He is an Irishman and 
never gained any 
settlement in England. He 
ran away about 16 weeks 
before the birth of the boy 
George and I have not 
since heard of him. She 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO3/22
a (alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/85a 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 
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died at Macclesfield about 
5 years since and the boy 
George has been since 
living with me. shiMy 
sister’s maiden settlement 
was in Ashford in the 
Water which she derived 
from her father whose 
settlement was there. His 
name was Ralph Furness 
and my mother’s name 
was Margaret Furness. 
They are both dead. My 
mother received relief from 
Overseers of the Poor at 
Ashford for many years 
previously to her death 
whilst she was living in 
Macclesfield. 

Garden, Richard Bond? Bakewell  11 Dec 
1794 

I do hereby promise to pay 
on demand the sum of 2 
pounds 5 (?) shillings to 
John Smith in only value 
received.  
Witness Richard 
Chapman, vicar. 
The Mark X of Richard 
Garden. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/1
02 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Garlick, Elizabeth Removal 
Order 

Foolow Great 
Longstone 

8 Nov 
1822 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D7676/BagC/5
66/25 
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Garrett, William 
and wife Sarah 
and children Ellin 
(11), Jonathan (8), 
Sarah (6) and 
William (4) 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Chapel-en-le-
Frith 

Whittle (in 
parish of 
Glossop) 

26 Mar 
1772 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D3453/22/3 

Gee, Richard and 
wife Elizabeth 

Removal 
Order 

Ashford Hassop 20 Jul 
1711 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO3/2 
(alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/63) 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Gell, John Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  18 Dec 
1812 

He is 26 years of age. He 
was born at Wirksworth 
where his father was as he 
believes legally settled. 
That when about 18 years 
of age he was hired to 
John Writhington of 
Wirksworth, weaver, for the 
term of 4 years, during 
which period he was to 
have half of what he 
earned and that he served 
the said 4 years in the 
service of the said John 
Writhington that he 
afterwards worked in 
Wirkswoth until he was 25 
years of age for himself in 
the capacity of a weaver, 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
61 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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when he married and went 
to live at Baslow where he 
has resided ever since, 
and this is all he knows of 
his settlement.  

Gell, William and 
his wife Mary and 
their daughter 
Mary 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Ashbourne Winster 5 Jan 
1758 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/405 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Gibbons, Grace Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  2 Mar 
1801 

She is 21 years of age. 
She was an illegitimate 
child and was born at 
Dronfield. When she was 
about 16 years of age she 
went to live with George 
Souter of the parish of St 
Michaels in the Borough of 
Derby, where she was 
hired for a year for the 
wages of 3 guineas and a 
half and her vails. She 
served the said year, and 
afterwards served a 
second year with the said 
George Souter. That she 
then went to Edensor, to 
James Gibbons, her 
grandfather, who had 
bought her up from a child, 
where she hath continued 
as one of his family till the 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/4
4 (MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 



141 

  

23 day of February last 
past, when she went to 
reside at Baslow with her 
mother, who was married 
at Baslow. Saith that this is 
all she knoweth concerning 
her settlement.    

Gibbons, Grace 
and the child or 
children she is 
now pregnant of 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Derby (St 
Michael’s 
Parish) 

Baslow 16 Mar 
1801 

Single-woman and 
pregnant.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/2/
6 (MICROFILM 
M598 vol 5) 

Gilbert, Charles 
and wife Ann 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Rampton 
(Nottinghamshir
e) 

Beeley 22 Oct 
1778 

Wheelwright Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1191/A/PO/1 
(MICROFILM 
37 vol 13) 

Glossop, John 
and his wife Sarah 
and their child Ann 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Hassop Bakewell 4 Apr 
1766 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/7
3 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Glossop, Mary Removal 
Order 

Youlgreave Bakewell 10 Nov 
1732 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/12 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 

Godbehere, 
Edward and his 
wife Anne, and 
sons John and 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Cromford Winster 2 Jul 
1731 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/363 
(MICROFILM 
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Thomas, and 
daughter Grace 

391 vol 4) 

Godbehere, 
Thomas 

Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  8 Oct 
1739 

He was born at Cromford. 
About 15 years since he 
came into Wirksworth and 
rented a house and land of 
the Earl of Macclesfield at 
12 pounds a year and 4 
pounds 10 shillings a year 
of Joseph Holebrook. He 
continued in Wirksworth 10 
years. He saith he never 
rented any house or land 
to the value of 10 pounds a 
year nor has done any 
other act to gain a 
settlement since he left 
Wirksworth. He came into 
Winster about 6 years 
since and further saith not.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/454 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 

Goodwin, Thomas 
and his wife 
Margaret 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Ashford Bakewell 15 Jul 
1740 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/5
9 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Goodwin, Thomas Settlement 
Examination 

Ashford  25 Dec 
1783 

Born at High Peover near 
Knutsford (Cheshire) 
where father Samuel 
Goodwin had legal 
settlement at time of his 
birth by renting farm of 
£40/year. Father removed 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO2/10 
(alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/43) 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 
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from Peovor to Somerford 
(Cheshire) where he 
rented farm of £38/year. 
From thence removed to 
Norton near Burslem 
(Staffordshire) where 
father rented farm of Mr 
George Brean of yearly 
value of £50. Father 
stayed 4 or 5 years on 
farm at Norton where he 
died. Examinant stayed 
with father upon farm 1½ 
years at Norton as part of 
his family and then 
married. After he was 
married he went to live at 
Congleton (Cheshire) 
where he stayed 2 years. 
Then he came to Ashford 
where he rented a 
tenement of Edward 
Cheney esq. about 
£2/year. 

Goodwin, Thomas Settlement 
Examination 

Ashford  5 and 17 
Nov 
1785 

Now of Ashford. Born at 
High Peover near 
Knutsford (Cheshire) 
where father Samuel 
Goodwin had legal 
settlement. Removed with 
father as part of his family 
to Somerford (Cheshire) 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO2/12
-13 (alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/45-
46) 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 
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where father rented farm of 
£38/year. From thence 
removed with father to 
Norton near Burslem 
(Staffordshire) where his 
father rented farm of £50 
of Mr George Brian. 
Examinant resided with his 
father at Norton upon said 
farm about 1½ years and 
then married. After he was 
married he went to live at 
Congleton (Cheshire) 
where he resided 2 years 
in the capacity as a 
labouring gardener. Then 
he went to live as Ashford 
where now resides. In 
1776 he rented a tenement 
at Ashford of Edward 
Cheney esq. of £2/year 
and paid an assessment 
towards the relief of the 
poor for the said tenement 
to Robert Bretnor, then 
one of the Overseers of 
the Poor, but does not 
know whether his name 
was entered in the 
assessment for the said 
tenement or not. In 1778 
remembers he paid an 
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assessment towards the 
relief of the poor at Ashford 
to John Oldfield who was 
then overseer of the poor 
and perfectly remembers 
seeing his own name 
entered in the handwriting 
of Robert Baxtor entered in 
the assessment for the 
rate which he then paid. 

Goodwin, Thomas 
and his wife 
Martha and their 
children William 
(16), Thomas (13) 
and Maria about 
(11) 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Norton on the 
Moors 
(Staffordshire) 

Bakewell 12 Aug 
1786 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057A/PO9/9
2 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Gordon, Richard Settlement 
Examination 

Ashbourne Bakewell 11 Dec 
1794 

Chimneysweeper. It was 
about 25 years ago that he 
believes that he was born 
in some part of London, 
but has no knowledge 
what his parents were. 
That when he was very 
young he believes that he 
was put an apprentice to a 
chimneysweeper, but does 
not remember his Master’s 
name. That when he was 
about 9 years of age he 
ran away from his 
apprenticeship on account 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/1
01 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 
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of his Master’s ill usage of 
him. That from that time he 
rambled from place to 
place as a chimney 
sweeper for several years. 
That betwixt 2 and 3 years 
ago he went to Ashbourne, 
Derbyshire where he was 
hired with John Moore, 
Chimneysweeper for 6 
months and duly served 
the same. That he was 
then hired by the John 
Moore for 3 years for the 
wages of 2 guineas a year, 
and his maintenance and 
clothing that he duly 
served his Master 1 year of 
the said term and received 
his wages as agreed upon. 
That he continued a short 
time of the second year in 
the same service, when his 
Master died, and soon 
afterwards he entered 
upon and rented the house 
of his late Master at 
Ashbourne, for which he 
has agreed to pay 4 
guineas a year, and which 
he now occupies. And that 
this present 11th day of 
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December he was married 
at Bakewell, Derbyshire 
and further saith not. 

Granger, John 
and his wife 
Rebecca and their 
children John and 
Ann 

Removal 
Order 

Winster Horsley 16 Jul 
1740 

17 Sept 1740. Delivered 
John Granger’s 2 children 
Ann and John to the 
Churchwarden and 
Overseer of Horsley.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/533 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Granger, John 
and his children 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Kilburn (parish of 
Horseley) 

Winster 15 Nov 
1740 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/378 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Greaves, Daniel 
and Rebecka his 
wife 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Sheldon Ashford 14 Jul 
1741 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO1/15 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Greaves, Thomas 
and his wife Ellen 
and their son 
William 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Hamlet of 
Sheldon 

Bakewell 14 Jul 
1729 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/4
7 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Green, Bagshaw 
and his wife 
Hannah and their 
child Ann (1) 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Wirksworth Winster 12 Feb 
1769 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/422 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Green, Hannah Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  20 Jan 
1804 

She is about 21 years of 
age. She was born at 
Baslow, where she 
believes her father had a 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
49 
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legal settlement. When she 
was about 18 years of age 
she went to live at Ashford, 
where she was hired by 
Hannah and Mary Buxton 
for a year for the wages of 
50 shillings. She served a 
year and a half without any 
other hiring. She hath lived 
in serval places since she 
left Ashford, but hath never 
lived a year in any one 
place and that this is all 
she knoweth concerning 
her settlement.  

(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 

Green, Henry and 
wife Rebecca and 
children Benjamin 
(9), George (8), 
Mary (5), Samuel 
(2), and Robert 
(infant)  

Removal 
Order 

Froggatt Dore 20 Sep 
1762 

 Sheffield 
Archives: 
JC1258/35 

Green, Ruth Settlement 
Examination 

Bonsall Bakewell 4 Jan 
1798 

Aged 22. Born at Bonsall, 
parents settled at Bonsall. 
5 years since she was 
hired to John Fantom of 
Bakewell for one year, for 
which she received 55 
shillings. She then hired 
again to the said John 
Fantom for one year for 
the same of 3 pounds of 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/11
/10 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 
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ten shillings and stayed 
her year out. Then she 
hired herself for 50 weeks 
only to Edward Frith of 
Tissington for 55 shillings 
and stayed there during 
that time. Then she went to 
Matlock and hired herself 
to Mrs Fletcher as her 
servant. There was nothing 
said by her or her mistress 
about what time she hired 
her for excepting that she 
gave other girls 50 shillings 
a year and she would 
make her place as good to 
her. That she stayed there 
about 6 months and then 
left her mistress upon a 
disagreement and is now 
at Bonsall, and this is all 
she knows of her 
settlement.   

Green, Sam Removal 
Order 

Corbar Dore 7 Jun 
1806 

 Sheffield 
Archives: 
JC1258/16 

Green, Thomas Settlement 
Certificate List 

Dacre-cum-
Bewerley 
(Yorkshire) 

Eyam 1725  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Greensmith, 
Robert, his wife 
and family 

Settlement 
Certificate  

Anston (West 
Riding of 
Yorkshire) 

Bakewell 1 Jul 
1723 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/4
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1 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Greensmith, 
Thomas 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Great Barlow Bakewell 30 Oct 
1712 

Weaver. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/2
3 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Gregory, Joseph Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  26 Apr 
1800 

He is about 43 years of 
age. He was born at 
Curbar, where he believes 
his father had a legal 
settlement. That when he 
was about 14 years of age 
he went to live at Bubnell, 
where he was hired for a 
year with John Gardom of 
Bubnell. That he served 
the said year, and served 
Mr Gardom 4 years 
afterwards. He then went 
to live at Hallows Hall in 
the parish of Dronfield, 
where he was hired and 
served a year with Michael 
Swift. He then went to live 
at Walton, where he was 
hired and served a year 
with George Calton. That 
he then went to live at 
Curbar, where he was 
hired for a year with John 
Lea of Curbar for the 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
37 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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wages of 9 pounds. That 
he served the said year 
and then went to live along 
with his father at Curbar 
and worked as a labourer, 
and hath worked as a 
labourer ever since and 
hath not to the best of his 
knowledge done any other 
act whereby to gain a 
settlement.  

Gregory, William Settlement 
Certificate List 

Nether Padley Eyam 1746  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Hadfield, Joseph Settlement 
Certificate List 

Winster Eyam 1758  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Hague, John Settlement 
Examination 

Beeley  10 Mar 
1777 

Labourer. Born at Beeley, 
At 19, hired to Robert 
Home the younger of 
Baslow, butcher and 
farmer, for 1 year for wage 
of £6, bed and board. Then 
hired for another year for 
£7 but served 6 months 
when left his master and 
went to Beeley to his 
father, Joseph Hague, with 
whom he hired himself for 
1 year for wages of £7 and 
bed and board. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1191/A/PO/1 
(MICROFILM 
37 vol 13) 

Hague, Joseph Settlement Beeley  10 Mar Farmer. Born at Beeley Derbyshire 
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Examination 1777 (where father legally 
settled), and about 40 
years since took a farm in 
Beeley at yearly rent of £5. 

Record Office: 
D1191/A/PO/1 
(MICROFILM 
37 vol 13) 

Hall, Benjamin Settlement 
Certificate 

Uttoxter 
(Staffordshire) 

Bakewell 20 Apr 
1706 

Fellmonger. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/1
0 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Hall, Elizabeth Settlement 
Examination 

Hope  1778 Age 20? Born at 
Stannington? Mother born 
a bastard? [Document 
largely obliterated]. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1038A/PO/11
6 

Hall, Isaac and 
Sarah his wife 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Ashover Beeley Undated 
[early 
18th 
cent?] 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1191/A/PO/1 
(MICROFILM 
37 vol 13) 

Hall, Jane, wife of 
Thomas Hall, and 
her two children 
Margaret (6) and 
Thomas (11 
months 

Settlement 
Examination 
and Removal 
Order Case 
Papers 

Sheffield Edensor in the 
County of 
Derby 

3 Dec 
1765 - 
22 Jan 
1766 

Jane, age 26, born in 
Rosscarbery in Cork, 
Ireland. At 16 married at St 
Peter’s Church in Cork to 
Thomas Hall, soldier in 30th 
Regiment of Foot, 
commanded by Lord 
London, now lying at 
Gibraltar. Husband born at 
Edensor in the County of 
Derby and bound 
apprentice to William Shaw 
of Sheffield. 

Sheffield 
Archives: 
TC433/10a-c 

Hall, John Settlement Winster  8 Oct He was born at Darlington Derbyshire 
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Examination 1739 (Durham) where his father 
has a settlement. That he 
was bound apprentice by 
indenture for 7 years to 
Francis Gillo of the parish 
of St Dunstan’s in the East 
of London to a corn factor 
and served his 
apprenticeship there to the 
said Gillo. That he hath for 
4 years last past rented a 
house and warehouse of 
Captain John Harley in St 
Botolph without Aldgate in 
the City of London of 85 
pounds a year where he 
lived about 4 years. That 
about April last he came to 
Winster and that he hath 
done no other act to gain a 
settlement.   

Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/461 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 

Hall, John and 
Elizabeth his wife 
and children 
Samuel (14), Alice 
(11), Elizabeth (2) 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Chapel-en-le-
Frith 

Hope 7 Jun 
1741 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1038A/PO/91 

Hall, John and his 
wife Mary and 
their children 
Elizabeth aged 4 
years and Ann 
aged upwards of a 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Edensor Bakewell 5 Jan 
1757 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/7
5 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 
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year 

Hall, Jonathan Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  29 Sep 
1731 

He is the son of Josias 
Hall, who now lives in 
Winster by virtue of a 
certificate for Wirksworth. 
That he was born in 
Winster, and hath 
constantly lived there and 
that he hath done nothing 
to gain any other 
settlement than that which 
he has for his father.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/450 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 

Hall, Jonathan 
and his wife Sarah 
and their child 
Rachell 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Wirksworth Winster 5 Jun 
1732 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/365 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Hall, Joseph Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  3 Nov 
1831 

Bridget Mills the wife of 
Jonathan Mills of Oldham, 
Lancashire as to the 
settlement of her brother 
Joseph Hall. That her 
brother Joseph Hall 
belongs to Winster…that 
his father was born there. 
That her brother’s wife 
(Sally Hall, the wife of 
William Hall) was removed 
by the Overseers of 
Oldham to Winster and 
she was then pregnant of a 
bastard child, her husband 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/510 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 
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being a soldier and out of 
the country. That her 
brother Joseph has lived 
about 50 years in Oldham 
but never did any act to 
gain a settlement in his 
own right.  
 
(On reverse)  
Sir, On the other side I 
hand you the examination 
of Bridge Mills who is the 
sister of Joseph Hall, and 
have to inform you that the 
old man has just breathed 
his last. I have found the 
coffin and funeral dues for 
him, and the widow in a 
poor state of health and 
cannot do anything so that 
she will be obliged to be 
returned, or we must put 
her under removal order. 
Your answer and 
remittance will oblige. 
Yours respectfully, John 
Gee, Overseer.  

Hall, Martha Removal 
Order 

East Retford 
(Nottinghamshir
e) 

Hope 13 May 
1794 

Wife of William Hall, who is 
now run away and left her 
with Jane their daughter 
(11), son George (9), son 
William (7), daughter 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1038A/PO/10
5 
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Hannah (5), son Joseph 
(3), son Samuel (18 
weeks). 

Hall, Thomas Settlement 
Certificate 

Pilsley, North 
Wingfield 

Foolow 9 Apr 
1713 

Bachelor Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D7676/BagC/5
66/50 

Hall, William and 
his wife and one 
child 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Edensor Bakewell 18 Jun 
1727 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/4
3 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Hallam, Fran  Settlement 
Certificate List 

Stoney 
Middleton 

Eyam 1699  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Hallam, Gervase Settlement 
Certificate List 

Sheffield Eyam 1734  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Hallam, Gervase Removal 
Order 

Brightside 
Bierlow (West 
Riding of 
Yorkshire) 

Baslow 14 Sep 
1784 

  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/5/
8 (MICROFILM 
M598 vol 7) 

Hallam, Humphry 
and Sarah his wife 
and children 
James and 
Elizabeth 

Removal 
Order 

Phoside (in 
parish of 
Hayfield) 

Whaley 
(Cheshire) 

13 Apr 
1733 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D3705/49/1 

Hallam, Thomas Settlement 
Certificate List 

Stoney 
Middleton 

Eyam 1734  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Hambleton (or Settlement Bakewell Ashford 3 Jun  Derbyshire 
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Hamilton?), Daniel 
and Elizabeth his 
wife and 4 
children Ellen (8), 
George (4), 
Benjamin (2) and 
Francis 1?) 

Certificate 1813 Record Office: 
D747/A/PO1/34 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Hambleton, 
Rachel together 
with the child or 
children, with 
which she is now 
pregnant 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Eaton and Alsop Bakewell 22 Jun 
1792 

Pregnant. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057A/PO9/9
8 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Hambleton, 
Thomas and his 
wife Mary and 
their children 
William, Sarah, 
Rachel, Thomas 
and John 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Eaton and Allsop Bakewell 9 Dec 
1785 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057A/PO9/9
0 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Hamilton, George Settlement 
Examination 

Youlgreave Bakewell [c. 1812] George Hamilton is 
upwards of 50 years old. 
He was born at 
Alstonefield (Staffordshire) 
of parents legally settled 
there. That when he was 
about 4 years old he was 
bound apprentice to 
Samuel Chappele, wool-
maker of Chapel-en-le-
Firth for 7 years. That he 
served there about 3 years 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/11
/34 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 
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when his master was 
thrown into prison and he 
left him and returned to his 
mother’s house at 
Youlgreave. He then hired 
to John Nutholl’s of Darby 
Mellor for a year and 
served the same and also 
2 other for a year at same 
place. Some time after he 
hired to Mr George Holmes 
of Bakewell, Tanner and 
Farmer for a year and 
served the same and a 
short time afterwards. He 
then hired to Mr Roath of 
Hartle Moor in the Parish 
of Bakewell for 51 weeks 
and served the same and 
also 2 other at 51 weeks at 
the same place. He then 
hired to Mr Barker of 
Youlgreave at 6 shillings 
per week between 
Michaelmas and Lady Day 
and 7 shillings per week 
between Lady Day and 
Michaelmas. That he 
served Mr Barker 
accordingly and that at the 
time they agreed Mr Barker 
said that he should not 
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have work for him all the 
year but that he should be 
at liberty to work for other 
people. That he was 
absent at various times 
working for other people. 
That he has by his wife, 
Hannah, 4 children, 
George (14), Sarah (10), 
John (8) and Thomas (5), 
and that he has done no 
other act to gain himself a 
settlement.  

Hamilton, George 
and his wife 
Hannah and their 
4 children, George 
(14), Sarah (10), 
John (8) and 
Thomas (5) 

Removal 
Order 

Youlgreave Bakewell 26 May 
1812 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/28 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 

Hammon, Mary 
(widow) and 
daughter Martha 

Removal 
Order 

Beeley Horton 
(Staffordshire) 

19 Jun 
1718 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1191/A/PO/1 
(MICROFILM 
37 vol 13) 

Hanckanch, 
Simon 

Settlement 
Certificate List 

Dronfield Eyam 1703  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Hancock, Sarah Removal 
Order 

Foolow Staveley 11 Dec 
1802 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D7676/BagC/5
66/16 
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Hancock, Sarah Settlement 
Certificate 

Staveley Foolow 18 Dec 
1802 

Pregnant Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D7676/BagC/5
66/14 

Hanley, Joseph 
and his wife Mary 

Removal 
Order 

Derby (Saint 
Alkmund’s 
Parish) 

Winster 28 Jun 
1831 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/574 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Hanley, William 
and his wife 
Elizabeth and their 
2 children John 
and Sarah 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Aldwark Winster 18 Feb 
1771 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/425 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Hanston(?), 
Cornelius and his 
daughters Ann 
(19) and Mary (12) 
and also his son 
James (18)  

Settlement 
Certificate 

Ivanbrook 
Grange 

Winster 25 Mar 
1790 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/437 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Hardy, Michael 
and his wife 
Fanny and their 6 
children Hannah 
(12), Sarah (10), 
Mary (8), 
Elizabeth (6), 
Anthony (3) and 
Edward (2) 

Removal 
Order 

Bollington 
(Cheshire) 

Winster 26 Apr 
1830 

Suspension Order: Michael 
Hardy is unable to travel 
by reason of sickness, 26 
Apr 1830. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/571 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Harrington, Ralph Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  26 Apr 
1800 

He is about 35 years of 
age. He was born at 
Kelton, in the county of 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
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Durham, where his father 
had a legal settlement. He 
worked as a collier in 
various places, and hath 
not to the best of his 
knowledge done any act to 
separate himself from the 
place of his father’s 
settlement.  

40 

Harris, James (the 
Younger) 

Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  11 Feb 
1759 

Born at Baslow being the 
place of his father’s 
settlement. When he was 
about 18 years of age he 
was hired for a year by 
William Beison of 
Hockerton 
(Nottinghamshire) for 3 
pounds. He stayed but one 
quarter of a year and 
received wages in 
proportion to his service. 
And was then hired for 3 
quarters of a year by 
Thomas Neip of the same 
place for 4 pounds, stayed 
that time and received his 
wages. Then left his 
master’s care to Baslow. 
That sometime about 
Martinmas 1748 took a 
farm at Barlow of a yearly 
rent of 18 pounds, and to 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
6 (MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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pay all taxes. He entered 
upon the land at Christmas 
following, and upon the 
25th March following he 
went and settled at the 
farm. He stayed upon the 
farm until the 23rd March 
next and paid all 
assessments both to 
Church, King and Poor 
except 2 Shilling due to the 
Church for the last quarter. 
And this examinant further 
saith that he then removed 
to Baslow where he has 
lived till now in a part of his 
father’s house, and has not 
since rented any farm nor 
done any act or deed to 
gain him a settlement 
otherwise then aforesaid. 

Harrison, 
Elizabeth 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Eyam Beeley 10 Aug 
1723 

Wife of Joseph Harrison 
and child that she is now 
big of. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1191/A/PO/1 
(MICROFILM 
37 vol 13) 

Harrison, George Settlement 
Certificate 

North Wingfield Winster 24 Aug 
1710 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/349 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Harrison, Joseph Settlement Kirk Ireton Winster 21 Apr  Derbyshire 
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and his children 
Ann and Adam 

Certificate 1781 Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/431 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Harrison, Richard Removal 
Order 

Winster Baslow 12 Dec 
1700 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/513 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Harrison, Richard Settlement 
Certificate 

Baslow and 
Bubnell 

Winster 4 Feb 
1700/170
1 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/344 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Harrison, William 
and his wife Sarah 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Monyash Winster 8 Jan 
1760 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/410 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Hartle, John and 
his wife Marah 
and their children 
Nickolas, Robert 
and Rachell 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Winster Flintshire 
(North Wales) 

14 Jul 
1735 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/369 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Hartle, Sarah Settlement 
Case Papers  

Winster  13 Jun 
1778 

Sarah Hartle the wife of 
Robert Hartle hath made 
complaint to me, John 
Taylor clerk L.L.D, one of 
his Majesty’s Justices of 
the Peace in and for the 
said County that her 
husband is now a private 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/485 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 
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solider in the Derbyshire 
Militia and that his place of 
legal settlement is at 
Winster and that she wants 
support for herself and her 
2 children. Whereas the 
said Overseers of the Poor 
of Winster have been duly 
summoned to appear 
before me, and to show 
cause why they refused to 
allow her 1 shillings a 
week for her maintenance 
and 2 shillings a week for 
the maintenance of her 2 
children, according to the 
statute in that case made, 
whereas they have shown 
to me, the said Justice, no 
sufficient cause for their 
neglect and refusal. 
Therefore hereby order 
you the said Overseers to 
pay weekly to the said 
Sarah Hartle, the wife of 
Robert Hartle, the sum of 3 
shillings a week until 
further order is given under 
my hand and seal at 
Ashbourne.   

Hatfield, James Settlement 
Certificate List 

Shatton Eyam 1721  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
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D5430/21/1 

Hatfield, John and 
Mary his wife 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Aston Hope 31 Mar 
1840 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1038A/PO/90 

Hatfield, Paul Settlement 
Certificate List 

Brough Eyam 1755  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Hathsworth, John Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  26 Apr 
1800 

He is about 30 years of 
age. He was born at 
Beeley, where he believes 
his father had a legal 
settlement.   

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
31 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 

Hawksmore, 
Thomas and his 
wife Lydia 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Elton Winster 22 Apr 
1756 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/398 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Hawley, Joseph 
and Sarah 

Removal 
Order 

Winster Grassington 
(West Riding of 
Yorkshire) 

11 Oct 
1768 

Joseph Hawley and Sarah 
Hawley, children of 
Anthony Hawley 
deceased. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/538 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Hawley, Joseph 
and his wife 
Hannah and their 
son John (3/4 
quarters of a year) 

Removal 
Order 

Winster Grassington 22 Apr 
1771 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/545 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Hawley, Mary Settlement 
Certificate 

Stanton Bakewell 7 Feb 
1709/171
0 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/1
5 (MICROFILM 
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32 vol 3) 

Hayne, Samuel Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  11 Oct 
1739 

He was born in the parish 
of St Werburgh in Derby 
where his father had a 
settlement. When he was 
about 16 years of age he 
was then [illegible] clerk to 
Mr William Bowyer of 
Roston, Derbyshire for 3 
years. He served the said 
3 years with Mr Bowyer at 
Roston, then he was 
[same illegible word] to Mr 
William Hawkins of Burton 
for 1 year to be as clerk to 
him. He served the said 
Mr. Hawkins near 2 years 
in Burton in Staffordshire. 
He saith his father paid 
upwards of 20 pounds for 
the time he served Mr 
Hawkins. He was then put 
to one Mr John Chedwood 
of Clifford’s Inn in London 
(for 1 year) an attorney at 
law. He served him as 
clerk the said year. His 
father gave some 
consideration but he 
cannot tell what, he saith 
that he never rented any 
house or land to the value 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/451 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 
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of 10 pounds a year nor 
has done any act to gain a 
settlement since he left Mr 
Chedwood at Clifford’s Inn. 
He saith he has been 
upwards of 9 years in the 
military service since he 
left Clifford’s Inn. He 
further saith that Hester his 
wife is now at Winster and 
near the time of her lying 
in.  

Heald, Nicholas 
and Sarah his wife 
and children Ellen 
(9), Sarah (7), 
Anthony (4) and 
William (2) 

Removal 
Order 

Foolow Eyam 24 Apr 
1784 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D7676/BagC/5
66/2 
 

Heald, Robert and 
Hannah his wife 
and children 
Sarah, Hannah, 
Ellen and Robert 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Woodland Foolow [No date, 
c early 
18th 
cent?] 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D7676/BagC/5
66/28 
 
 
 

Heales, George 
and his wife, two 
sons and daughter 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Totley Bakewell 29 Apr 
1715 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/3
2 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Heathcote, Robert Settlement 
Examination  

Ashford  1 Jun 
1787 

Labourer of Ashford. Born 
at Flagg where his father 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
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was legally settled. Age 
10, his father hired him to 
Mr Birdekin of Flagg for 1 
year where he stayed 2 
years then left and went to 
live with John Allen of 
Eyam where he lived 3 
years then went to live with 
William Fanshaw of 
Ashford where he stayed 1 
year then went to live with 
Joshua Flint of Great 
Longstone where he 
stayed ¾ year. From 
thence he returned to 
Flagg and hired himself to 
John Redfearn for 1 year 
for wages of 5 guineas in 
which service he stayed 
that year and received his 
wages. 

D747/A/PO2/15 
(alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/48) 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Heathcote, Robert Removal 
Order 

Ashford Flagg 11 Jun 
1787 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO3/6 
(alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/68) 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Heathcote, Robert 
and Sarah his wife 
and 6 children: 
Hannah (13). John 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Flagg Ashford 16 Jun 
1787 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO/67 
(MICROFILM 
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(11), Elizabeth (9), 
Jane (7), Martha 
(4), Mary (1) 

17 vol 2) 

Hendley(?), 
William 

Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  2 Jan 
1771 

He was born at 
Brassington where his 
father was legally settled. 
That when he was about 
16 years of age was hired 
as a servant for 1 year by 
Joseph Brocklehurst of the 
liberty of Aldwark, farmer. 
And according to such 
hiring did serve the said 
Joseph Brocklehurst there 
1 year and likewise the 3 
succeeding years and 
since then hath not done 
any act whereby to gain 
himself a settlement to the 
best of his knowledge and 
belief.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/472 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 

Henley, Joseph 
and his wife 
Hannah and their 
son George 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Brassington Winster 18 Feb 
1771 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/427 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Henson, Sarah 
and her children 
Joseph (6) and 
Sarah (10 months) 

Removal 
Order 

Hampstead 
(Middlesex) 

Baslow 3 May 
1753 

Sarah Henson wife of 
Joseph Henson (who is 
run away) aged 32 years. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/5/
5 (MICROFILM 
M598 vol 7) 

Herdsfield, Joseph Settlement Ashford Bakewell 15 Jul  Derbyshire 
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and his wife Mary Certificate 1740 Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/5
7 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Hibbert, Alice Removal 
Order 

Heaton Norris 
(Lancashire) 

Ashford 10 Apr 
1840 

Widow. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO3/23
a (alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/86a 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Hibbert Alice Settlement 
Examination 

 Ashford 10 Apr 
1840 

Widow. Place of settlement 
Ashford-in-the-Water. 
About 23 years ago late 
husband and I were 
removed from Pendleton 
(Lancashire) to Ashford. 
Received relief since my 
husband’s death which 
was about 13 weeks after 
our removal. Until about a 
year ago I was residing in 
Pendleton. At this time I 
am now chargeable to 
Heaton Norris. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO3/23
b (alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/86b 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Hibbert, John Settlement 
Certificate List 

Grindlow Eyam 1742  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Hibbert, Sarah 
and her child Mary 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Chapel-en-le-
Frith 

Ashford 17 Apr 
1770 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO1/26 
(MICROFILM 
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17 vol 2) 

Hibbert, Sarah Settlement 
Examination 

Ashford  27 Mar 
1770 

Born at Ashford (where her 
father had legal 
settlement). After she had 
done 4 years’ service with 
Mr Samuel Wright as a 
hired servant, she was 
hired for a year by John 
Green of Chapel-en-le-
Frith for £3 wages. Served 
him 3 years at Chapel-en-
le-Frith and received her 
wages.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO2/8 
(alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/41) 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Hibbert, William Settlement 
Certificate List 

Litton Eyam 1747  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Hickinson/Higgins
on, William (and 
Ann and 
Elizabeth?) 

Removal 
Order 

Hope Baguley 
(Cheshire) 

14 Apr 
1779 

[Document largely 
obliterated]. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1038A/PO/10
9 

Higginbottom, 
John 

Settlement 
Certificate List 

Brampton Eyam 1737  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Hill, Adam [and 
Downs, 
Christopher] 

Justices Order 
for Settlement 
Examination 

Hope  27 Mar 
1766 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1038/A/PO/11
4 

Hill, Benjamin and 
Ann his wife and 
Hannah their child 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Brough and 
Shatton 

Hope 12 Nov 
1764 

[Document largely 
obliterated]. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1038A/PO/99 

Hill, Elizabeth Removal 
Order (and 

Winster Carsington(?) 9 May 
1716 

Daughter of Daniel Hill, an 
inhabitant of Carsington by 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
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Settlement 
Examination) 

certificate dated 22 Aug 
1710. Aged about 7 years 
was found vagrant and 
begging in in the said 
hamlet of Winster. It 
appeared by information 
that the said Daniel Hill is 
run away and the said 
Elizabeth Hill is to be 
provided for by the 
Overseers of the Poor of 
Carsington(?).   

D776/A/PO/514 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Hill, James Settlement 
Examination 

Bakewell  11 Nov 
1768 

Labourer. Born Nuthall 
(Nottinghamshire) but 
believes his father was 
from Sturton (Lincolnshire). 
Resided at Nuthall until he 
was 16 years old, then 
hired as a servant to 
William Harvey of Watnall, 
Nottinghamshire for a year. 
Served the said year and 
received his wages. 
Afterwards was bound as 
an apprentice for 7 years 
in Nottingham as a sinker 
maker and served his 
master. Afterwards served 
as a marine in his 
Majesty’s Service for 10 
years. Afterwards he came 
to Bakewell where he has 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/11
/4 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 



173 

  

resided with his wife for 3 
years. 

Hill, John and his 
wife Elizabeth and 
his family 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Brassington Bakewell 16 Feb 
1716/171
7 

Miller. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/3
3 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Hill, John Settlement 
Examination 

Winster   26 Dec 
1769 

He was born at Heage in 
the parish of Duffield 
where he believes his 
father resided under a 
certificate from Winster. 
When he was 16 years old 
he was hired, by his father 
to Aron Brocklis of 
Alderwasley, farmer, and 
served him about 27 
weeks and then left his 
said master. After that the 
examinant hired himself 
with John Tomlinson of 
Atlow, farmer for 11 
months. Served John 
Tomlinson from 
Michaelmas till Mary Day 
and then left him and hired 
himself to Thomas Garrett 
of Bradley, farmer for 11 
months which 11 months 
service commenced the 
day after Candlemas day 
last. 16th August last he 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/471 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 



174 

  

married and since that time 
hath done no other act or 
deed to gain a settlement 
elsewhere.   

Hill, Mary Removal 
Order 

Dronfield Baslow 8 Mar 
1730/173
1 

Mary Hill a bastard child, 
daughter of Assinna Hill, 
Single-woman. Mary Hill 
legally settled in Baslow by 
her birth being past 7 
years old. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/5/
1 (MICROFILM 
M598 vol 7) 

Hill, Mary Settlement 
Examination 

Hope  8 Dec 
1808 

Single-woman. Born at 
Woodlands? (where father 
William Hill at legal 
settlement). Aged 
4…taken by her 
grandfather of Hope. Aged 
15, hired by George 
Littlewood of Hope for 1 
year for wages of 50s. 
Remained in Littlewood’s 
service 3 years then hired 
for 1 year by John 
Middleton of Hope for 
wages of 5 guineas. Then 
hired for 1 year by John 
Lomas of Shatton for 
wages of 5 guineas then 
returned to John Middleton 
with whom hired for 1 year. 
Served more than year. 
Afterwards hired by John 
Lomas of Bowden Chapel 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1038A/PO/12
0 



175 

  

for 1 year. Served 11 
months 2 days. Master 
received information she 
was with child and 
discharged her. [Document 
partly obliterated]. 

Hinch, Phillip, and 
his wife and 
children 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Stoney 
Middleton 

Winster 25 Jul 
1706 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/347 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Hodkinson, Arnold Settlement 
Certificate 

Bakewell Little Longstone 10 Jul 
1737 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D3580/O/39 

Hodgkinson, 
William and his 
wife Sarah and his 
children Francis 
and William 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Great Longstone Winster 26 Dec 
1747 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/390 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Holbrook, Mary Removal 
Order 

Winster Mugginton 22 Jun 
1770 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/543 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Holland, Robert 
and Mary his wife 
and children John, 
George, Robert 
and Mary 

Removal 
Order 

Heafield 
[Hayfield] 

Haughton (in 
parish of 
Manchester) 

11 Mar 
1734 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D3705/49/7 

Holley, Ann Removal 
Order 

Etchells 
(Cheshire) 

Baslow 3 Mar 
1825 

  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/5/
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23 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 7) 

Holme, Thomas, 
and his wife 
Milicent and any 
children born 
hereafter 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Great Rowsley Bakewell 27 Sep 
1723 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/4
2 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Holme, William Settlement 
Examination 

Hope  [No date, 
c. 1770s] 

Born at Knutsford 
(Cheshire). Aged 5, his 
father died and mother 
removed from Knutsford to 
Hope. Lived with mother 
until 14 when apprenticed 
to George Robinson, flax-
dresser of Hope and lived 
with him until age 21. 
Worked as flax-dresser in 
various places.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1038A/PO/11
9 

Holmes, Jane Settlement 
Certificate 

Edensor Bakewell 10 Jul 
1708 

Of Calton Houses, 
Edensor. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/1
4 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Holmes, John and 
his wife Elizabeth 
and their 4 
children, Dorothy 
(12), John (8), 
Elizabeth (4) and 
Mary (1) 

Removal 
Order 

Stanton Winster 11 Apr 
1771 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/548 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 7) 

Holmes, Peggy Removal Ashford-in-the- Baslow 15 Mar Peggy Holmes is insane Derbyshire 
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Order Water 1809 and not able to provide for 
herself or to give any 
account of her settlement. 
Examination of Margaret 
Homes, widow, of Ashford-
in-the Water. 

Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/5/
12 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 7) 

Holms, Mary and 
her daughter 
Hannah 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Duffield Winster 17 Jul 
1749 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/392 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Hoolm, Frances 
and his wife Mary 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Ashford Winster 1 Feb 
1748/174
9 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/391 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Horrobin, Joseph 
and Frances his 
wife 

Removal 
Order 

Mansfield 
(Nottinghamshir
e) 

Ashford 18 Jun 
1834 

With suspended removal 
order ‘Joseph Horrobin 
unable to travel by reason 
of sickness’ and later note 
that he is ‘now dead’ (10 
Aug 1834). 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO3/21 
(alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/84(
MICROFILM 17 
vol 2) 

Housley, Samuel Settlement 
Examination 

Stanton Lees Bakewell 20 Jan 
1806 

Aged 28. Born at Pilhough 
in the hamlet of Stanton, in 
the parish of Youlgreave. 
When he was 18 years old 
he was hired by Mr Buxton 
of Bakewell, surgeon, as 
his servant by the year. 
That he stayed with him 1 
year and 6 months for 8 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/11
/16 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 
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guineas the first year, and 
was to have 9 guineas the 
second year and this is all 
he knows of his settlement. 

How, Robert and 
wife Sarah and 
son Thomas 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Abney Foolow 23 Dec 
1755 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D7676/BagC/5
66/63 

Howard, George Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  25 Jun 
1810 

He was born at Monow in 
the parish of Baslow. That 
about 10 years ago he was 
hired to Robert Bottom of 
Brampton for 1 year at 
£20.16. where he 
continued nearly 3 years. 
From thence he went to 
different places at a 
month’s wage and a 
month’s warning, and 
never was since that 
period lived for a year. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
57 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 

Howard, William 
and Grace his wife 
and daughter Ann 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Ashford Foolow 21 Apr 
1759 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D7676/BagC/5
66/49 

Howe, John Removal 
Order 

Hope  1720 [Document largely 
obliterated]. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1038A/PO/10
1 

Howson, Peter Settlement 
Certificate List 

Little Hucklow Eyam 1726  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 
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Hudson, George Settlement 
Examination 

Beeley  6 Apr 
1800 

Age 32, born in Dronfield 
(where father had legal 
settlement).  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1191/A/PO/1 
(oblMICROFIL
M 37 vol 13) 

Hudson, George  
 

Settlement 
Certificate List 

[No place listed] Eyam 1735  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Hudson, Grace Settlement 
Certificate  

Ashbourne Bakewell 15 Mar 
1729/173
0 

Single-woman. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/4
6 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Hully, Joshua and 
Ann his wife and 
children Francis, 
Samuell and Mary 

Removal 
Order 

Little Longstone Ashford 2 Mar 
1735/173
6 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO3/4 
(alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/65) 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Hunstone, 
Cornelius  

Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  6 Jun 
1783 

He was born at Birchover 
where his father Henry 
Hunstone was then legally 
settled. That when he was 
about 14 years of age he 
was bound apprentice to 
Anthony Mason at 
Brampton to learn the 
business of a blacksmith 
for the term of 7 years. 
That he continued to live 
with and serve the said 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/497 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 
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Anthony Mason according 
to the true intent and 
meaning of the said 
indenture. That about 20 
years ago he rented a farm 
under Lord Scarsdale at 
Tunstead, in the parish of 
Wirksworth of the yearly 
rent of £34 10 shillings, 
which he continued to live 
upon for upwards of 17 
years. That at Lady Day 
1782 he the said 
examinant not being able 
to continue the said farm, 
left it, and has since 
worked at Winster as a 
labouring miner to this 
time. That he has 3 
children, by his wife Ann 
who is now deceased, now 
with him at Winster, Ann 
(14), Samuel (10) and 
Mary (5), none of whom 
have done any act to 
separate them from his 
settlement.  

Hutchinson, John 
and his wife Sarah 
Ann Catherine 
and their two 
children Eldred (3) 

Removal 
Order 

Bakewell Edensor 14 Mar 
1823 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/37 
(MICROFILM 
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and Bertha (6 
months) 

32 vol 2) 

Hutchinson, Sarah 
and her children 
George (14), 
Thomas (9) and 
Joseph (5) 

Removal 
Order 

Cheetham 
(Lancashire) 

Bakewell 4 Sep 
1834 

Widow.  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/63 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 

Ingman, George Settlement 
Certificate 

Baslow Winster 4 Jun 
1700 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/345 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Jackson, Mary 
and her daughter 
Olive 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Great Longstone Steeton (in 
parish of 
Kildwick, 
Yorkshire) 

1715 Widow Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D307/G/1  

Jackson, Sarah Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  30 Mar 
1749 

Single-woman.  Born at 
Baslow, and her father’s 
settlement is there, she 
saith that she never has 
been hired a servant, nor 
done any act to alter her 
settlement from that of her 
father, who resides at 
Baslow. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
5 (MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 

Jarvis, Ann and 
the child or 
children she is 
now pregnant with 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Curbar Baslow 6 Mar 
1802 

Pregnant.  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/2/
7 (MICROFILM 
M598 vol 5) 

Jeffrey, William Settlement Baslow  26 Oct He was born at Warsop Derbyshire 
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Examination 1881 (Nottinghamshire) where 
his father was legally 
settled. That after serving 
several years in different 
places as a servant he was 
hired by Samuel Fox of 
Pleasley Hill, Nottingham 
for one year which he 
served. Then he was hired 
by Samuel Watson of 
Baslow aforesaid for one 
year. That he served him 
about 9 or 10 weeks and 
received him wages and 
then left him to about 6 
weeks. About then went to 
him again, stayed with him 
about 36 weeks, and 
received his wages for the 
said 36 weeks. Then he 
went to William Dobb of 
Baslow aforesaid with 
whom he was hired by the 
month and lived with him 
about a year and an half 
and then he was hired by 
Richard Oddley of Baslow 
aforesaid for 11 months. 
That he served him about 
8 months when he married 
and left him and had done 
no act since to gain him a 

Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
13 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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settlement. 

Jeffrey, William Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  10 Sep 
1784 

Labourer. Who saith that 
he is now about 31 years 
of age that he was born as 
Warsop (Nottinghamshire) 
where he believes his 
father Arthur Jeffrey had at 
that time a legal 
settlement. That after 
severing several years in 
different places as a 
servant in husbandry, he 
was hired by Samuel Fox 
of Pleasley Hill in the 
parish of Mansfield 
(Nottinghamshire) for 1 
year, which year he 
served. That he lived in 
several places afterwards 
for the space of about 2 
years as a servant in 
husbandry, but did not live 
in any one of those places 
a year. That he then went 
to live with Samuel Watson 
of Baslow with whom he 
was hired for a year, for 
the wages of 10 guineas. 
That he served about 9 or 
10 weeks of the said term 
and then left his said 
service, on account of his 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
16 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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said master being then 
involved in some 
difficulties that occasioned 
his houses husbandry 
geer(?) to be sold up. That 
he then went to live with 
John Penistone at Stanton 
Ford in the hamlet of 
Curbar with whom he 
continued 2 weeks as a 
day Labourer. That he then 
went to live with William 
Dob at the Cliff in Baslow 
aforesaid with whom he 
continued 4 weeks as a 
day labourer. That at the 
end of the said 4 weeks he 
hired himself to live with 
the said William Dob till the 
Candlemas following, it 
being then about the 
month of March, for the 
wages of 14 shillings 6 
pence by the month, but 
upon his late Master 
Samuel Watson asking him 
to go and live with him 
again he did not enter 
upon his said service with 
William Dob but went to 
live with the said Samuel 
Watson again and 
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continued to live with him 
about 36 weeks, which 
with the two aforesaid 
services with John 
Penistone and William Dob 
completed the year from 
his first being hired to the 
said Samuel Watson. That 
he then went to live with 
William Dob at the Cliff 
aforesaid with whom he 
was hired by the month 
and lived with him about a 
year and an half. That he 
then was hired to live with 
Richard Addey at Baslow 
aforesaid for 11 months 
but only continued about 8 
months when he was 
married. Since which time 
he has lived as Baslow 
aforesaid in the capacity of 
a labourer and further this 
examinant saith not. 
 
(On reverse) Considered 
his case and has decided 
that the service cannot be 
considered as a continuing 
service under the contract 
to the end of the year. The 
pauper’s settlement does 
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not therefore appear to me 
to be at Baslow, but at 
Pleasley Hill. The services 
to with Dob and Addey 
[illegible] give to 
settlements.  

Jenkinson, Ralph Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  25 Jun 
1810 

Labourer. He was born in 
Baslow, that his father 
belonged to Stockport, 
Chester. That he is now 
about 25 years of age. 
That when he was about 
15 years of age he hired 
himself to Samuel Marple 
of Baslow for a year and at 
the expiration thereof lived 
with the said Mr Marple 
about a year but received 
his wages weekly, and 
during those periods he 
slept at the house of his 
said master. That he then 
worked at Chatsworth Hall 
with his father at weekly 
wages, but his father 
received the wages and 
this examinant slept at his 
house for the period of 
about 1 year. That he then 
hired himself to Mr Robert 
Marsden of Baslow for 1 
year at the wages of £7, 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
60 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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and lived with him about 5 
months. Afterwards and 
received his wages when 
he had occasion for it. That 
he then hired himself again 
for a year to William Bright 
of Baslow at the wages of 
£10 but he only lived with 
his master about 6 months 
and received his wages 
accordingly. That he then 
worked at different places 
and with different persons 
for about 1½ year, but 
never lived in any place 
longer than ¾ quarters of a 
year during that time and 
received his wages 
weekly. That he then hired 
himself to Mr Joseph 
Hodgkinson of Baslow for 
a year at the wages of £12 
and received the 
perquisites from his 
master’s Corn Team, 
where he remained 1 year 
and 10 months. That he 
then hired himself again to 
Mr Hodgkinson for a year 
at the same wages and the 
same perquisites but 
remained with his master 
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only 10 months. That he 
then went to live with his 
mother in Baslow and has 
remained there ever since. 
That in about half a year 
after he left Mr Joseph 
Hodkinson he married and 
ever since has worked at 
different places at weekly 
wages.   

Johnson, Ellen Removal 
Order 

Bakewell Hassop 18 May 
1745 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/14 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 

Johnson, James Settlement 
Certificate List 

Conisbrough 
(Yorkshire) 

Eyam 1737  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Johnson, John Settlement 
Certificate List 

Dore Eyam 1714  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Johnson, 
Jonathan and his 
wife Mary and 
their child Mary 
Ann (3) 

Removal 
Order 

Crompton 
(Lancashire) 

Bakewell 11 Jul 
1828 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/49 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 2) 

Johnson, Martha Removal 
Order 

Bakewell Tideswell 29 Dec 
1727 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/12
/6 (MICROFILM 
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32 vol 2) 

Johnson, Moses  Settlement 
Certificate List 

Conisbrough 
(Yorkshire) 

Eyam 1753  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Johnson, Samuel 
(Senior) 

Settlement 
Certificate List 

Conisbrough 
(Yorkshire) 

Eyam 1714  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Johnson, Samuel Settlement 
Certificate List 

Conisbrough 
(Yorkshire) 

Eyam 1752  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Johnson, Thomas Settlement 
Certificate List 

Sheffield Eyam 1710  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Johnson, Thomas Settlement 
Certificate List 

Wingerworth Eyam 1714  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Johnson, William Settlement 
Certificate List 

Hathersage Eyam 1716  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Keeling, Richard 
and his wife Mary 
and their son 
James 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Birchover Winster 2 Oct 
1739 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/373 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Keeling, Richard 
and Sarah his wife 
and their child 
David 

Removal 
Order 

Leeds Ashford 7 Mar 
1839 

Richard Keeling now 
prisoner in the House of 
Correction at Wakefield. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO3/22
b (alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/85b 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Keeling, Thomas Settlement Elton Winster 5 Mar Miner.  Derbyshire 
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and his wife 
Elizabeth 

Certificate 1746/174
7 

Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/385 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Kelly (or Kelsy?), 
William and Jane 
his wife and their 
daughter(?) 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Butterwick 
(Lincolnshire) 

Ashford 26 Oct 
1770 

Cordwainer(?). Partially 
obliterated. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO1/2 
5 (alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/25) 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

King, William and 
his wife Hannah 
and their child 
Matthias (14 
weeks) 

Removal 
Order 

Smalley Baslow 24 Dec 
1818 

  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/5/
18 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 7) 

Kirk, Peter Settlement 
Examination 

  6 Dec 
1742 

Blacksmith. Born in 
Chapel-en-le-Frith, 
apprenticed to John Barber 
of Westnal and 
Waldershelf for 7 years. 
Never was hired for year 
after apprenticeship. 

Brotherton 
Library (Leeds): 
Wils 234/142 

Knowles, Adam 
and his wife and 
family 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Wensley and 
Snitterton 

Winster 2 Feb 
1746/174
7 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/382 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Knowles, 
Elizabeth and her 
children James, 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Elton Bakewell 28 Nov 
1785 

Widow. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057A/PO9/8
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Hannah, Joseph, 
Henry and Ann 

8 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Knowles, George 
and his wife and 
family 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Wensley and 
Snitterton 

Winster 2 Feb 
1746/174
7 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/384 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Knowles, John  Settlement 
Certificate List 

Shatton Eyam 1756  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Knowls, Ellin and 
3 children 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Shatton Foolow 27 May 
1721 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D7676/BagC/5
66/65 

Lane, John Settlement 
Examination 

Monyash  15 Jul 
1746 

Born in Aston-upon-Trent. 
At age of 10 was 
apprenticed for 7 years to 
George Smith of 
Wymeswold 
(Leicestershire), 
blacksmith. Served 3½ 
years then master turned 
him over to Nicholas 
Turner of Barton 
(Nottinghamshire), 
blacksmith, and served 
remaining part of 
apprenticeship then Turner 
hired him for 1 year at £5 
then 2nd year. Now resides 
at Monyash and rents 
house and ship at £1 18s 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D504/49/10 
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per year. 

Lant, Joseph Settlement 
Case Paper 

Winster  18 Dec 
1758 

This examinant (Francis 
Clark, one of the 
Overseers of the Poor of 
Winster) saith that Joseph 
Lant, his wife and 4 
children, now are and for 
some years past have 
been inhabitants of 
Winster and have been 
chargeable and are likely 
to be further chargeable to 
the said place.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/470 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 

Lant, Joseph Settlement 
Case Paper  

Winster  19 Apr 
1759 

This informant (James 
Johnson) saith(?) that 
Joseph Lant of Winster 
and his family were about 
3 months ago removed 
from Winster to Aldwark by 
an order of 2 of his 
Majesties Justices of the 
Peace for the said County 
which order confirmed at 
the General Quarter 
Sessions of the Peacehold 
in the said County and 
there said Joseph Lant and 
his family are since 
returned again to Winster 
and do inhabit there 
without having bought a 
certificate of the place of 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/467
(i) 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 
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their legal settlement.   

Lant, Joseph and 
his wife Ann and 
their 5 children 
Thomas, Hannah, 
Joseph, Ann and 
William  

Settlement 
Certificate 

Aldwark Winster 1 Apr 
1766 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/415 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 5) 

Lee, Robert and 
his wife and family 
 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Carsington Winster 10 Jul 
1722 

(on reverse) Robert Low. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/354 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Lees, John Settlement 
Certificate 

Edensor Beeley 27 Jun 
1774 

Labourer. Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1191/A/PO/1 
(MICROFILM 
37 vol 13) 

Lees, Robert and 
Elizabeth his wife 
and children 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Brampton Beeley 10 Apr 
1727 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1191/A/PO/1 
(MICROFILM 
37 vol 13) 

Lingard, John Settlement 
Examination 

Baslow  26 Apr 
1800 

He is 50 years of age. He 
was born at Stoney 
Middleton. When he was 
about 18 years of age he 
went to live at Pleasley 
where he was hired for a 
year with William Bunby for 
the wages of 5 pounds. He 
served the said year, and 
then went to live at 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/3/
41 
(MICROFILM 
M598 vol 6) 
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Newstead Abbey 
(Nottinghamshire), 
whereby was hired for a 
year with John Burry for 
the wages of 10 guineas. 
That he served the said 
year, and served his 
master 2 years more. Saith 
that he served another 
year with a different master 
at Newstead Abbey. Saith 
that he hath not since he 
left Newstead Abbey done 
any act whereby to gain a 
settlement.  

Lingard, William 
and Hannah his 
wife and child 
John 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Wardlow Ashford 5 Jan 
1741/174
2 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO1/16 
(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Littlewood, Joseph 
and his wife Mary, 
and their children 
Hannah, Richard, 
Joseph, Samuel, 
Mary, John and 
Johnathon 

Settlement 
Certificate  

Eckington Bakewell 24 May 
1755 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO9/6
8 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 

Lomas, Mary Settlement 
Examination 

Ashford  20 Jul 
1756 

Married woman. Over 43 
years ago married to 
George Lomas who then 
lived at Taddington (the 
place of his legal 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D747/A/PO2/1 
(alt. ref. 
D747/A/PO/35) 
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settlement). Immediately 
after her marriage came to 
live at Ashford. Heard her 
husband often say he was 
settled at Ashford by virtue 
of a certificate from 
Taddington. During her 
husband’s residence in 
Ashford, he never rented 
£10 a year, paid 
assessments, served any 
offices nor did any other 
act or deed to alter his 
settlement from 
Taddington. Since her 
husband’s condemnation 
Taddington has allowed 
her one shilling a week. 
Said her son George 
Lomas had a bastard child 
fathered upon him by 
Martha Mycock of 
Taddington but that 
George had no way altered 
his settlement from his 
father. 

(MICROFILM 
17 vol 2) 

Lomas, Thomas Settlement 
Examination 

Bakewell  9 Jun 
1797 

Aged 64. Born at Monyash 
where his father had legal 
settlement. When he was 
about 13 years old he was 
bound as an apprentice to 
William Taylor of Bakewell 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/11
/9 (MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 
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as a currier, for the term of 
7 years. He served his 
master until 9 weeks of the 
expiration of his 
apprenticeship when his 
master died, and his 
mistress gave him leave to 
go where he pleased. He 
then left Bakewell and 
went to Monyash to his 
father where he stayed for 
a month or 5 weeks. Then 
he went and worked as a 
journeyman currier with 
Samuel White of Stoney 
Middleton where he stayed 
for about 3 weeks. Then 
he went to London where 
he worked as a 
journeyman currier and in 
various other places but 
has not gained a 
settlement. 

Longden, 
Elizabeth 

Removal 
Order 

Hope Stockport Sep 
1811 

[Document partly 
obliterated]. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1038A/PO/11
2 

Longden, 
Nathaniel and 
Mary his wife 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Aston Hope Jul 1745 [Document largely 
obliterated]. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1038A/PO/93 

Longden, 
Nathaniel and 

Settlement 
Certificate 

Aston Hope 5 Jan 
1765 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
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Mary his wife and 
children Mary and 
Ellin 

D1038A/PO/98 

Longden, William Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  9 Jul 
1763 

Miner. He was born at Ible 
in the parish of Wirksworth 
where his father John 
Longden had a legal 
settlement. That he was 
hired for a year at the age 
of 24 years or thereabouts 
to James Banks of Ible at 6 
pounds a year but that he 
stayed only half a year and 
received 3 pounds for the 
half a year service. Soon 
after his leaving the said 
Bank’s service, he married 
Mary the daughter of 
William Goodwin of 
Stanton and lived at Ible 
about 6 years and had 3 
children there born, to wit, 
John (6), Job (3½) and 
William (2) and since his 
inhabitancy at Winster has 
had a daughter named 
Mary (17 weeks) all by his 
said wife. And this 
examinant further saith 
that he has never done 
any act to gain a 
settlement in any other 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/468 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 
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place than Ible aforesaid.  

Longdin, John Settlement 
Examination 

Winster  6 Aug 
1778 

He was born within the 
liberty of Ible where his 
father was then legally 
settled but that his father 
hath since removed to 
Winster where he is now 
lawfully settled. That he 
learned the trade of a 
blacksmith with his uncle 
John Hodgkinson at 
Youlgreave but was never 
bound apprentice to him 
nor gave him any 
consideration money for 
the same. And hath since 
then done no act whereby 
to gain himself a 
settlement to the best of 
his knowledge and belief.  

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/484 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 6) 

Longdin, Mark  Settlement 
Examination 

Glutton Bridge  5 Oct 
1808 

Joiner. Aged 35. Born in 
Darley Dale where his 
father was settled and 
where his mother still lives. 
That when he was about 
15 years old he was bound 
out an apprentice under 
legal indentures by his 
father to Abraham Sheldon 
of Bakewell, joiner, for the 
term of 6 years. When he 
had done upwards of 5 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2057/A/PO/11
/21 
(MICROFILM 
32 vol 3) 
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years he bought out the 
remainder part of his time 
for which he gave his 
master either 4 guineas or 
4 pounds, but is not sure 
which. That he served 
several different people in 
his own trade but that he 
has always been employed 
and paid by the week and 
not by the year and that he 
has worked for his present 
employer Abraham Flint of 
Glutton Bridge in that 
manner for these last 7 
years and that is all he 
knows concerning his 
settlement.  

Longley, Thomas 
and his wife 
Susannah 

Removal 
Order 

Wollaton 
(Nottinghamshir
e) 

Baslow 2 Sep 
1749 

  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D2380/A/PO/5/
3 (MICROFILM 
M598 vol 7) 

Low, Jos. Settlement 
Certificate List 

Great Longstone Eyam 1717  Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D5430/21/1 

Low, Samuel Settlement 
Examination 

Beeley  16 Sep 
1796 

Weaver. Age 26, born at 
Brampton (where father 
had legal settlement). At 
12, apprenticed to John 
Warhurst of Bolsover, 
weaver for 7 years. Served 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D1191/A/PO/1 
(MICROFILM 
37 vol 13) 
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about 2 years then master 
removed to Bakewell 
where he served him more 
than 1 year. Then master 
removed to Youlgreave 
where he served more 
than 6 months. The master 
removed to Great 
Longstone where he 
served 6 weeks. The his 
mother and William Swift of 
Little Longston bought the 
remainder of his time from 
his master for £3. Then he 
went along to live with 
William Swift at Little 
Longstone where he 
stayed about 6 months. 
Then went to Brampton to 
his mother where he 
worked as journeyman 
weaver. Mother received 
his wages during term of 
his apprenticeship. 

Lowe, Nathanial 
and his wife 
Hannah and 
Jonathan his son  

Settlement 
Certificate 

Carsington Winster 6 Mar 
1730/173
1 

 Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/362 
(MICROFILM 
391 vol 4) 

Lympton, Ann Removal 
Order 

Barrow Winster 23 May 
1735 

Ann Lympton wife of 
Thomas Lympton, Soldier. 

Derbyshire 
Record Office: 
D776/A/PO/520 
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